

Singapore Management University Institutional Knowledge at Singapore Management University

Research Collection Lee Kong Chian School Of Business

Lee Kong Chian School of Business

11-2009

APEC Business Fellowship: Singapore

Hwee Hoon TAN
Singapore Management University, hhtan@smu.edu.sg

Michael A. Netzley
Singapore Management University, michael@smu.edu.sg

Follow this and additional works at: https://ink.library.smu.edu.sg/lkcsb_research
Part of the Organizational Behavior and Theory Commons

Citation

TAN, Hwee Hoon and Netzley, Michael A.. APEC Business Fellowship: Singapore. (2009). Research Collection Lee Kong Chian School Of Business.

Available at: https://ink.library.smu.edu.sg/lkcsb_research/1839

This Report is brought to you for free and open access by the Lee Kong Chian School of Business at Institutional Knowledge at Singapore Management University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Research Collection Lee Kong Chian School Of Business by an authorized administrator of Institutional Knowledge at Singapore Management University. For more information, please email libIR@smu.edu.sg.

APEC BUSINESS FELLOWSHIP PROGRAMME SINGAPORE 2009

Ву

Hwee Hoon Tan, Ph.D.

Michael Netzley, Ph.D.

Lee Kong Chian School of Business

Singapore Management University

CONTENTS

		Page
	Executive Summary	5
1	Introduction	8
2	Literature Review	10
	2.1 SME Challenges in Internationalization	10
	2.2 Pedagogical Considerations in Executive Education	11
3	Methodology and Profile of Respondents	12
	3.1 Focus Group Respondents	12
	3.2 Survey Respondents	12
	3.2.1 Company's Principal Business	13
	3.2.2 Extent of Internationalization Activities	14
	3.2.3 Main Approaches to Internationalization	14
4	Findings and Discussion	16
	4.1 Financial Capabilities	16
	4.2 Business Environment Capabilities	17
	4.3 Marketing Capabilities	19
	4.4 Cross-cultural Management Capabilities	20
	4.5 Interest in In-market Programs	22
5	Proposed Classroom Content	23
	5.1 Two Proposed Models for the ABF: Disciplinary and Cross-disciplinary Models	23
	5.2 Program Delivery	31
	5.3 Adapting ABF to Local Participants	34
6	Proposed Training Framework	36
	6.1 Structure of the ABF	36
	6.2 Program Differentiation	42
	6.3 Host Institution Considerations	42
	6.4 Conclusion	44
7	Appendices	46

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3-1	Distribution of Responses	13
3-2	Company's Principal Business	14
3-3	Extent of Internationalization Activities	14
3-4	Main Approaches to Internationalization	15
4-1	Summary Findings on Financial Capabilities	16
4-2	Ranking of Important Financial Capabilities	17
4-3	Required vs. Important Financial Capabilities	17
4-4	Summary Findings on Business Environment Capabilities	18
4-5	Ranking of Important Business Environment Capabilities	18
4-6	Required vs. Important Business Environment Capabilities	19
4-7	Summary Findings on Marketing Capabilities	19
4-8	Ranking of Important Marketing Capabilities	20
4-9	Required vs. Important Marketing Capabilities	20
4-10	Summary Findings on Cross-cultural Management Capabilities	21
4-11	Ranking of Important Cross-cultural Management Capabilities	21
4-12	Required vs. Important Cross-cultural Management Capabilities	22
4-13	Interest in In-market Programs	22
5-1	Functional ABF Program Design and Its Content	24
5-2	Proposed Thematic Course Content	25
5-3	Summary Findings on Financial Capabilities	26
5-4	Summary Findings on Business Environment Capabilities	28
5-5	Summary Findings on Marketing Capabilities	28
5-6	Summary of Findings on Cross-cultural Management Capabilities	29
5-7	Topics Deserving Dedicated Classroom Time	29
5-8	Topics to be Included Using Alternate Delivery Methods	30
6-1	ABF Stakeholder Interests and Program Characteristics	36
6-2	Proposed Daily Schedule for the ABF	37
6-3	ABF Themes across Five-and-a-Half Program Days	38
6-4	Program Overview Targeting Mostly Visiting Fellows	39
6-5	Program Overview Targeting a Mix of Local and Visiting Fellows	40
6-6	Specific Content Areas	41

APPENDICES

Appendix		Page
1	Structured Interview Guide	46
2	Composition of SMEs Interviewed (by Revenue and Industry)	48
3	Composition of SMEs Interviewed (by Length of Internationalization)	49
4	Focus Group Interview Highlights	50
5	Final Questionnaire	51
6	Detailed Analysis: Singapore	64
7	References	70

APEC BUSINESS FELLOWSHIP PROGRAMME 2009

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In early 2009, IE Singapore commissioned a study on behalf of APEC and the proposed APEC Business Fellowship program (ABF). Conceptualized initially by IE Singapore and SPRING as part of APEC's Small and Medium Enterprise Working Group, and co-sponsored by the four member economies of Chile, New Zealand, Peru, and Russia, this study recommends both a design and delivery framework for the ABF.

The proposed APEC Business Fellowship (ABF) is a five-and-a-half day in-market program designed to help SME leaders internationalize their business. Each program run takes twenty-five to thirty SME participants through a program beginning on Sunday evening with an ice-breaker and opening event. The design of the proposed program reflects the preferred content and learning approach as indicated by survey respondents from APEC member economies who work in SMEs.

Building upon findings from the survey study, the program takes a cross-disciplinary approach. While the program could potentially be organized around traditional subject areas such as marketing, finance and management, the ABF instead organizes around themes that cut across these traditional topics. There are four core themes.

- Market analysis includes topics such as market analysis at the industry level, foreign
 business practices, foreign market intelligence, habits and attitudes of foreign customers,
 understanding and managing complexity of foreign distribution channels, and reading
 economic and political data to interpret trends.
- Partners covers the search and evaluation of potential partners, management of partner relations, expansion of distribution networks, and negotiation across cultures.
- Internal operations focuses on financial planning and review, cashflow management, risk
 management, debt management, cost allocation and control, pricing, new product
 development, promoting brand awareness through the Internet, and identifying and
 attracting talent.
- Legal issues include taxation in foreign countries, and legal and regulatory frameworks.

The themes give the program a consistent structure while allowing the content to be adapted to each specific host market. Customizing the program to each host market, in fact, will be essential.

For example, for Singapore, the set of core themes will be the same which provides for the consistency across multiple program runs. The customization happens within the specific themes, and that customization reflects what is unique to Singapore. Thus, if the program is held in Singapore, the training materials will be specific to Singapore and if in Peru, specific to Peru.

How did the ABF come to be organized around four themes? Following focus group discussions with SME leaders and a survey of the SME literature on internationalization, a survey study was designed around the four disciplines of finance, business environment, marketing, and cross-cultural management. However, while the survey study is organized around the four disciplines, in reality, organizations function across these disciplines. For example, products and services are priced with both an eye to sales (a marketing topic) and to finance. Thus, the ABF's use of cross-disciplinary themes.

In our survey, we asked respondents to distinguish between: 1) what capabilities are *required* for the business to expand, 2) what capabilities were *important* for them to do so, and 3) what are the best ways of acquiring the capabilities. We then examined what survey respondents felt was required for a business to internationalize and compared that with what they felt was important to acquire at this point in their companies' development.

Gaps between the capabilities that are required and that are important led to recommendations about what program topics to include and the weight given to each. Additionally, this gap analysis offered an opportunity to organize content into cross-disciplinary themes, giving the program a more dynamic feel.

In additional to themes, the program is designed around three learning approaches which survey respondents preferred. Survey respondents were asked to indicate up to three ideal ways to acquire finance, business environment, marketing, and cross-cultural management capabilities. The options given to the survey respondents ranged from instructor-centered delivery methods such as lecture, to participant-centered methods such as case discussion, and to outsourcing from external sources. The framework proposed is therefore largely influenced by two considerations: a) instructor-centered versus participant-centered methods, and b) the extent to which capabilities can be outsourced or acquired externally.

We found that respondents prefer the lecture method for financial topics. For non-financial topics, the respondents prefer discussion methods and networking. The program was therefore designed

to include the appropriate learning approach for each theme. The three learning approaches are:

Case Discussion and Lecture: Each day is centered around the more traditional classroom learning experience where participants think about and reflect on the challenges of internationalizing. Using a variety of methods, such as pre-readings, case discussions, and mini-lectures participants will discuss leading research, models, and business practices.

- Nuts & Bolt Discussions. To supplement the traditional approach, we structure the program
 so that each day begins with a practical, expert-led, and ground-level discussion about the
 nuts & bolts (i.e., specific requirements, procedures, or advice) of entering a market. For
 example, participants will learn the specific steps for incorporating within a particular
 country, specific hiring practices or laws, or tax procedures to name a few. These how-to
 discussions answer the detailed, process-oriented questions for potential market entrants.
- Networking and Site Visits: Given the networking focus from our findings, the final part of each day is devoted to networking events and site visits. The networking and site events will be structured learning experiences and not merely a meet-and-greet event. For example, a panel discussion can be developed as a spring board for further dialogue. In addition, site visits to successful businesses which have internationalized can serve as live cases which form the basis of discussion. Further, guest presenters can be invited to the classroom to share innovations or successful practices. Finally, to encourage learning, the first ten minutes of the following day can be used to debrief the networking experience. The objective is for participants to interact with in-market professionals, ask questions, build a network of in-market and out-market professionals, and to do so in a structured fashion.

The findings in this report can be applied directly to the Singaporean context. Singapore respondents were the most frequent respondents to the survey study, and thus the overall report reflects their interests well. The only difference for Singaporean respondents, relative to the overall survey results, is that Singaporean SME respondents demonstrated a slight preference for topics which might be described as *planning* (e.g., financial planning and review).

APEC has the opportunity to deliver a genuinely unique business fellowship at a time when the world economic conditions may be leveling off and hopefully improving. Survey respondents have indicated their preference for more interactive learning methods, and the timing may be right for delivering such a program when SMEs can benefit greatly in 2010 and beyond.

APEC BUSINESS FELLOWSHIP PROGRAMME 2009

1. INTRODUCTION

Small and medium enterprises (SME) looking to expand internationally face a host of challenges. Including cultural differences, lack of specific market knowledge, different laws and currency fluctuations, SMEs with their limited resources (compared to most multinational companies [MNCs]) can often benefit from a range of publicly-available resources. With this in mind, a survey focused on SME internationalization has been commissioned by IE Singapore and APEC to better understand the needs of APEC's SMEs. This study was proposed by IE Singapore and SPRING as part of APEC's Small and Medium Enterprise Working Group and will lead to the formation of the APEC Business Fellowship (ABF). The approved ABF—which has the explicit purpose of helping APEC SMEs expand overseas—is being co-sponsored by the four member economies of Chile, New Zealand, Peru, and Russia. The first step in delivering the ABF is this commissioned study which reports on the feasibility of the proposed ABF and offers specific suggestions regarding the program content and design.

The literature base dedicated to internationalization is rich and provided an excellent starting point. For nearly forty years scholars have inquired about the process of internationalizing, and examined the subject from diverse perspectives such as rational economic choices, human behavior and management processes, human and business networks, mode of market entry, and bases for national competition to name a few. Although there is an extensive literature base, additional studies fill a knowledge gap by focusing on the issues specific to APEC, the changing economic conditions in 2009, and the preferred education delivery methods of SME leaders. This commissioned study, therefore, narrows the available topics and program delivery styles which will eventually become part of the ABF.

Specifically, the objectives of the study are to:

- a) Understand the critical firm-level knowledge/ competency needs of internationalizing APEC SMEs that would enable them to develop a sustainable competitive edge in expanding overseas.
- b) Identify the knowledge/ competency gaps of internationalizing APEC SMEs.
- c) Develop and recommend a suitable broad-based ABF program structure and topics that will form a reference model for the APEC economies. The program equips APEC's SMEs with an awareness of business practices and emerging business opportunities.
- d) Recommend viable ways to execute the ABF within the APEC member economies.

To achieve the study's objectives, the research method included three major phases. First was a comprehensive review of the academic literature, as well as other SME studies funded by APEC, OECD, the European Union (EU), and International Trade Administration (ITA) to name a few. Building upon major themes in the literature, phase two included focus group meetings with a diverse range of SME leaders (e.g., various years working internationally, various industries, etc). The focus group feedback, when combined with the literature review, offered a mix of academic and practitioner advice leading to the survey questionnaire design. The third step was designing and conducting a fifteen minute on-line survey study of APEC SME leaders from across the twenty-one member economies. The survey was written in English and remained open for three weeks. APEC contacts from each country were asked to assist with targeting appropriate SME survey respondents in their respective country.

The findings, presented in this report, include recommendations about the content and design of the ABF. Many studies, both academic and those funded by public bodies (e.g., APEC or OECD), have reached conclusions about the internationalization process, its importance to SME growth, and the role governments can play in supporting SME growth. None of the studies in this literature review, however, look specifically at adult education programs or partnerships with institutions of higher learning (IHL) as a means of delivering SME support. Additionally, the studies in the literature review were all conducted prior to the economic upheaval in 2008.

The following pages present in detail the commissioned research study, its methodology, a brief review of the existing literature, findings, and recommendations. Extended discussions of the literature review and specific topics are included as appendices at the end of the report.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 **SME Challenges in Internationalization**

Internationalization can be described as a relatively mature academic subject which has received immense interest since the 1970s. Numerous studies have explored everything from the definition of internationalization to subtopics such as the nature of foreign direct investments (FDI), different stages of going international, behavioral studies, firm performance after going international, market characteristics (i.e., emerging versus mature markets), regulatory frameworks, mode of entry (e.g., export, JV, etc.), organizational learning perspectives, cross-cultural perspectives, and network studies to name a few. Additionally, such studies have not been limited to academia, though this is where much of theorizing takes place. Several public research projects funded by APEC, the European Union, and International Trade Administration (ITA), for example, have also recognized the rich academic background while simultaneously lamenting the lack of quantitative data for analyzing internationalization. Studies relying on public funding are also numerous. In total, the literature on business internationalization generally, and SME internationalization specifically, could easily be described as extensive product from years of academic and public discussion.

A more complete literature can be found in Appendix 1. What follows here is a brief summary of essential topics from the literature review which helped shape the design of the ABF.

Four primary research questions emerged from the literature review.

- Foreign Direct Investment (FDI). How do companies who discover that they have a particular advantage—be it a product, service, or perhaps a manufacturing edge—decide to invest money and resources into the target markets where they might prosper?
- Stage Models. Can internationalization be understood as a series of stages that each internationalizing entity evolves through: pre-export, initial export, and advanced export stages?
- Network Models. How do relationships between organizations and their people (i.e., networks) provide an advantage for the internationalization of businesses?
- Market Entry. Should an organization enter a new market through exporting, licensing agreements, franchises, joint ventures, or FDI?

Similarly, key issues emerged from the literature about adult learning which later helped shape the survey questions about how SME leaders preferred to learn particular topics.

2.2 Pedagogical considerations in Executive Education

For decades scholars have discussed the distinction between pedagogy and andragogy (Knowles, 1968, 1980; Brookfield, 1986; Merriam and Caffarella, 1991; Davenport, 1993; Tennant, 1996). The term pedagogy has often been used to describe the way that children and young adults learn while andragogy has been used to describe how adults and professionals learn. There are five key assumptions forming androgogy's foundation (Knowles, 1980).

- 1. Adults have a strong sense of self and are able to direct their own learning activities
- 2. Adults have a pool of life experience which they can draw upon and reference while learning
- 3. Adult learning is closely tied to the learner's changing roles in the workplace or life
- 4. Adults tend to be more problem-centered in their learning and look for immediate application of the knowledge
- 5. Adults are generally more motivated by internal rather than external factors

In general, the literature on adult learning is clear. Program administrators and faculty must be prepared to move away faculty-centered teaching methods (e.g., lecture and rote exercises), and toward learner-centered approaches (e.g., case discussion, experiential projects, simulations, mentoring, and network building), when dealing with adult and professional learners. This movement from faculty-centered to learner-centered processes is at the heart of adult education.

Recommendations at the report's end adopted a range of options from faculty-centered to learnercentered delivery models. In the survey questionnaire, participants were asked to indicate their preferred method of acquisition for each specific topic. The choices effectively form a continuum from ranging from faculty-centered to learner-centered choices. The specific choices were: 1) Lecture or expert seminar, 2) Facilitated case study, 3) Tutoring or mentoring, 4) Networking and/or peer discussion, 5) On-the-job training, 6) Self study. In addition, we also provided the option of acquiring the capability via the outsourcing option, or that of recruiting personnel with required skills.

3. METHODOLOGY AND PROFILE OF RESPONDENTS

This project adopted a three stage approach. The first stage was the literature review, described above, which sought to determine what researchers already knew about the process of internationalizing SMEs. The second and third stages were, respectively, interviews and focus groups which were then followed with a survey research study across the twenty-one APEC economies. The entire process was aimed at designing a survey study capable of telling us what our target audience, SME leaders across the APEC economies, would most like to learn if they were participating in the ABF program. Additionally, the survey study sought to learn how SME leaders prefer to learn about the topics most important to them. This report details the responses from Singapore.

3.1 Focus Group Respondents

Following the literature review, several structured interviews were conducted leading up to two focus groups. The structured interviews offered early feedback about the specific questions which would be asked during the focus groups, and also to identify any possible gaps in the focus group questions. A complete list of focus group questions are presented in Appendix 1.

After completing the structured interviews, two focus groups were conducted at Singapore Management University. Focus group participants were diverse, representing SMEs with revenues less than \$10 million annually, \$10-29.9 million, and greater than \$30 million. The focus group attendees were also diverse with different levels of experience operating internationally. Some participants had fewer than five years of international business experience, others had five to ten years experience, and a few had more than ten years experience.

Composite tables of the focus group participants can be found in Appendices 2 and 3. Highlights and key findings are presented in Appendix 4.

3.2 Survey Respondents

The on-line survey was launched in June 2009 and remained open for a three week period. The on-line survey was written in English, and the lead APEC representative from each country was asked to help identify SME leaders in the respective country were then asked to complete a fifteen minute survey. 170 valid responses were received during the three week window, and Table 3-1 presents a summary of the responses organized by country of response. There were no participants for four

countries; Australia, Chinese Taipei, South Korea and Papua New Guinea. Among all the respondents, 42% of the respondents were from Singapore, followed by 26% from Thailand, and 14% from Peru.

Table 3-1 Distribution of Responses

#	APEC Economies	%
1	Australia	0
2	Brunei Darussalam	4
3	Canada	1
4	Chile	1
5	Chinese Taipei	0
6	Hong Kong	2
7	Indonesia	1
8	Japan	1
9	South Korea	0
10	Malaysia	1
11	Mexico	1
12	New Zealand	2
13	Papua New Guinea	0
14	People's Republic of China	1
15	Peru	14
16	Philippines	1
17	Russia	1
18	Singapore	42
19	Thailand	26
20	United States of America	1
21	Vietnam	1
	Total	100

Company's Principal Business

Table 3-2 organizes survey responses from Singapore according to principal business. Ten different business types are represented in the survey responses. The majority of respondents were from Manufacturing (34.7%), Wholesale (22.2%) and Services (22.2%) sector.

Table 3-2 Company's Principal Business

#	Principal Business	%
1	Wholesale	22.2
2	Manufacturing	34.7
3	Construction	5.6
4	Services	22.2
5	Communications, Transport and Storage	2.8
6	Retail	9.7
7	Property	0
8	Finance	1.4
9	Holdings	1.4
10	Hotels / Food Establishments	0
	Total	100.0

^{*} Some respondents reported with more than one area as their main business

3.2.2 Extent of Internationalization Activities

The overwhelming majority of respondents worked for SMEs that were either already active in overseas markets (52.8%), or that were aspiring to internationalize (47.2%).

Table 3-3 Extent of Internationalization Activities

Your company is now:	%
1. Active in international activities	52.8
2. Aspiring to be active (future potential / desire to be involved in international activities)	47.2
2. Not-active in international activities (without a future/ potential desire to be involved in international activities)	0
Total	100.0

3.2.3 Main Approaches to Internationalization

Table 3-4 categorizes survey responses according to the Singapore SMEs' mode of entry into overseas markets. 44.6% of the firms internationalize via export or the appointment of overseas distributors or agents.

Table 3-4 Main Approaches to Internationalization

#	Main approaches to Internationalization	%
1	Export	21.3
2	Appointment of overseas distributors / agents	23.3
3	Overseas alliances (joint venture / partnerships etc)	20.7
4	Franchising	6.0
5	Setting up overseas branches / offices / subsidiaries	26.7
6	Others, please specify	2.0
	Total	100.0

^{*} Respondents were allowed to indicate more than one approach to internationalization

4. FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

Analyses were conducted on the final dataset. A total of 72 responses were received via the electronic questionnaire platform for the Singapore sample. The following section details the findings in each of the four main capability areas: Financial, Business Environment, Marketing and Cross-cultural Management. The detailed statistical data can be found in Appendix 6.

In each section, the top three required capabilities are reported, together with the top two ideal ways of acquiring each. The ranked importance of the capabilities is also presented. It is noteworthy that capabilities required are at times ranked to be not as important compared to the rest of the capabilities in the cluster. A possible reason could be that the companies have already acquired the more important capabilities; hence, their requirement of those important capabilities is much lower.

4.1 Financial Capabilities

In the Financial Capabilities cluster, the four most required capabilities are 1) Financial planning and review in foreign operations, 2) Cost allocation and control, 3) Risk management, and 4) Taxation (see Table 4-1). The most ideal way of acquiring *Cost allocation and control*, and *Risk Management* is through Networking and/or peer discussion; while Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills is the most ideal way of acquiring *Taxation in foreign countries*. For all three capabilities, the second best options are *Lecture or expert seminar*, and *On-the-Job training*.

What is of interest is the fact that while the four capabilities are most required, except for *Financial planning*, the other three are ranked in the lower half of the importance section. That is, it may be that companies already have the three most importance capabilities; 1) Financial planning and review, 2) Cashflow management and 3) Debt management and new financing.

Table 4-1 Summary Findings on Financial Capabilities

Required	Importance	Top Two Ideal Acquisition Method
1. Financial planning and review in	1	1.Networking and/or peer discussion
foreign operations		Outsource and/ or recruit personnel with required skills
2. Cost allocation and control	4	 Networking and/or peer discussion Lecture or expert seminar On-the-job training
3. Risk management	5	 Networking and/or peer discussion Lecture or expert seminar On-the-job training
4. Taxation in foreign countries	6	 Outsource and/ or recruit personnel with required skills Lecture or expert seminar

For the Singapore sample, the most important capability is *Financial planning and review in foreign operations* (see Table 4-2). While this is not required as much by companies in the study, it may be that companies already possess the basic capability. Nonetheless, this is a capability that should be considered in financial modules of training programs and it is recommended that rather than teaching the basic principles of this capability, that training providers focus on a) a higher level of expertise, and b) updates on current issues that impact this capability.

Table 4-2 Ranking of Important Financial Capabilities

Financial Capabilities – Singapore

- 1. Financial planning and review in foreign operations
- 2. Cashflow management
- 3. Debt management and new financing
- 4. Cost allocation and control
- 5. Risk management
- 6. Taxation in foreign countries

As earlier alluded to, there is a difference between what is important and what is required. Although companies may not require capabilities that are important, training program providers should continue to offer topics on important capabilities, but at a higher level. It is likely that required capabilities that are less important may have been neglected in the past and companies now want to focus their attention on developing those capabilities as well. In this instance, *Taxation*, *Cost allocation and control* and *Risk management* are three such capabilities.

Table 4-3 Required vs. Important Financial Capabilities

	Required to a Large Extent	Required to a Less Extent
Important (ranked 1-3)	* Financial planning and review	* Cashflow management
	in foreign operations	* Debt management and new
		financing
Less Important (ranked 4-6)	* Taxation in foreign countries	
	* Cost allocation and control	
	* Risk management	

4.2 Business Environment Capabilities

The top three required capabilities in the Business Environment cluster are 1) Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations, 2) Market analysis at the industry level, and 3) Legal and regulatory framework in foreign countries (see Table 4-4).

The ideal way of acquiring all three capabilities is via networking and/or peer discussion. For *Seeking* potential partners and *Legal*, outsourcing is another method while self study is a viable alternative

for the *Market analysis* capability. The dominant mode of acquisition here is via networking and peer discussion. It is also to be noted that the third most required capability (*Legal capability*) is also ranked as the least important capability in this cluster.

Table 4-4 Summary Findings on Business Environment Capabilities

Required	Importance	Top Two Ideal Acquisition Methods
Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations	1	 Networking and/or peer discussion Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
2. Market analysis at the industry level	2	 Networking and/or peer discussion Lecture or expert seminar
3. Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries	6	 Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills Networking and/or peer discussion

The ranking of all six capabilities in the Business Environment cluster in the Singapore sample is listed in Table 4-5. It appears that companies lack the most important capabilities in this cluster. Hence, programs focusing on this segment should be cognizant that there may be a need to focus on the entire spectrum of knowledge, skills and abilities in this cluster. That is, the design of the curriculum has to provide a basic foundation as well as to provide the most recent knowledge and understanding of that capability.

Table 4-5 Ranking of Important Business Environment Capabilities

Business Environment Capabilities - Singapore

- 1. Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations
- 2. Market analysis at the industry level
- 3. Understand and manage the complexity of foreign distribution channels
- 4. Read economic and political data to interpret and anticipate trends at the global, regional and country levels
- 5. Tap into networks such as trade associations and chambers of commerce in foreign countries
- 6. Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries

The classification of required versus important capabilities are more evenly spread out in the Business Environment cluster (see Table 4-6). Two capabilities are deemed to be less important and less required, and therefore in the design of the curriculum of this cluster, the emphasis of these two capabilities 1) Read economic and political data to interpret and anticipate trends at the global, regional and country levels and 2) Tap into networks such as trade associations and chambers of commerce in foreign countries can be lower in emphasis. Priority should be placed on *Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations* and *Market analysis at the industry level*.

Table 4-6 Required vs. Important Business Environment Capabilities

	Required to a Large Extent	Required to a Less Extent
Important (ranked 1-3)	* Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations * Market analysis at the industry level	* Understand and manage the complexity of foreign distribution channels
Less Important (ranked 4-6)	* Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries	* Read economic and political data to interpret and anticipate trends at the global, regional and country levels * Tap into networks such as trade associations and chambers of commerce in foreign countries

4.3 Marketing Capabilities

For Marketing capabilities, the top three capabilities required also ranked in the top most important capabilities (see Table 4-7). The most ideal way of acquiring such capabilities is through networking and/or peer discussion. *Pricing* and *Develop new products and services* are likely to be acquired ideally through on-the-job training as well. Respondents particularly are also of the view that *Distribution networks* capability can also be outsourced and/or recruited from outside sources.

Table 4-7 Summary Findings on Marketing Capabilities

Marketing Capabilities Required	Importance	Ideal Acquisition Method
Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services to stay competitive	3	 Networking and/or peer discussion On-the-job training
2. Gather foreign market intelligence	1	 Networking and/or peer discussion Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
3. Expand distribution networks in foreign operations	2	 Networking and/or peer discussion Outsource and/or recruit personnel with

The most important capability in the Marketing cluster is that of *Gathering foreign market intelligence* (see Table 4-8). Promotion to create brand awareness and using the internet as a business intermediary do not appear to be as important in the overall cluster of capabilities.

...Pg 19

Table 4-8 Ranking of Important Marketing Capabilities

Marketing Capabilities - Singapore

- 1. Gather foreign market intelligence
- 2. Expand distribution networks in foreign operations
- 3. Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services to stay competitive
- 4. Promote brand awareness through internet channels
- 5. Develop new products and services for the foreign markets
- 6. Promote brand awareness through traditional media
- 7. Buy and sell products and services over the internet

Table 4-9 details the distribution of what respondents deem important and required. As discussed earlier, the important capabilities are also most required.

Table 4-9 Required vs. Important Marketing Capabilities

	Required to a Large Extent	Required to a Less Extent
Important (ranked 1-3)	* Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services to stay competitive * Gather foreign market intelligence * Expand distribution networks	
	in foreign operations	
Less Important (ranked 4-7)		* Develop new products and services for the foreign markets
		* Promote brand awareness
		through traditional media
		* Promote brand awareness
		through internet channels
		* Buy and sell products and
		services over the internet

4.4 **Cross-cultural Management Capabilities**

The top three capabilities for the Cross-cultural Management cluster are 1) Manage partner relations, 2) Foreign business practices, and 3) Negotiate across cultures. Networking and/or peer discussion is deemed the most ideal way of acquiring these three capabilities. For Foreign business practices, Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills is also one of the ideal methods. It appears that respondents also deem these three required capabilities to be important (in the top half of the cluster of seven capabilities).

Table 4-10 Summary Findings on Cross-cultural Management Capabilities

Required	Importance	Top Two Ideal Acquisition Methods
1. Foreign business practices	1	 Networking and/or peer discussion Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
2. Manage partner relations	3	 Networking and/or peer discussion On-the-job training
3. Negotiate across cultures	4	 Networking and/or peer discussion On-the-job training

The respondents in this study indicated that Management style, Verbal/nonverbal language differences and Motivate and retain foreign employees are less important. One possible reason could be that these capabilities become important once the company has managed to gain a foothold in the foreign country. What is important is to get a foot in the door, which means having capabilities to understand foreign business practices, habits and attitudes of foreign customers etc and managing partner relations. Only when companies are able to do so can they focus on the dayto-day internal running of the operations. Hence, in designing the program on Cross-cultural Management, the first important steps would be to focus on getting companies to hone capabilities in foreign business practices, managing partner relations and negotiation across cultures.

Table 4-11 Ranking of Important Cross-cultural Management Capabilities

Cross-cultural Management Capabilities – Singapore

- 1. Foreign business practices
- 2. Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners
- 3. Manage partner relations
- 4. Negotiate across cultures
- 5. Management style required in specific foreign context
- 6. Verbal / nonverbal language differences
- 7. Motivate and retain employees in foreign operations

In this cluster of capabilities, what is deemed important is also required by respondents of the study, except for the capability on Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners. As discussed earlier, the focus is on capabilities that enable companies to take the first step, which is more external than internal.

...Pg 21

Table 4-12 Required vs. Important Cross-cultural Management Capabilities

	Required to a Large Extent	Required to a Less Extent
Important (ranked 1-3)	* Foreign business practices * Manage partner relations	* Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners
Less Important (ranked 4-7)	* Negotiate across cultures	* Management style required in specific foreign context * Verbal / nonverbal language differences * Motivate and retain employees in foreign operations

4.5 Interest in In-market Programs

There is definitely interest in in-market programs developed to cater to this group of SMEs respondents. Over 40.0% of the respondents indicated that they are interested or very interested in participation (21.8%).

Table 4-13 Interest in In-market Programs

Interest	Response	%
1 (Not interested)	1	1.8
2	4	7.3
3	16	29.1
4	22	40.0
5 (Very interested)	12	21.8
Total	55	100.0

5. PROPOSED CLASSROOM CONTENT

We recommend a five-and-a-half day in-market business fellowship program. A key feature of the program is a strong inclination towards learner-centered delivery models such as networking, discussion, and individual tasks looking at the participant's current business challenges. The delivery model should account for three-quarters length classroom days, allowing participants ample time for networking. Finally, we recommend that participants go through the program as a quartet (four person group) for both social and intellectual reasons. Pre-assigning participants into groups will allow the socialization process to mature more quickly, and it also gives program administrators the ability to control group composition in such a way that program objectives are best met (e.g., we ensure that each quartet is culturally diverse before assigning an exercise on cross-cultural negotiation). Fixed groups are reasonable considering the program's emphasis on networking.

These recommendations are based upon the survey findings, focus groups, and literature review. The program content includes a mix of finance, business environment, marketing, cross-cultural management topics.

5.1 Two Proposed Models for the ABF: Disciplinary and Cross-disciplinary Models

A five-and-a-half day program will need to begin on a Sunday evening with a welcome reception, short talk setting expectations for the week ahead, and perhaps a 20 minute opening presentation to break the ice and promote intellectual exchange between participants. Regardless of the specific design, it will be important to break the ice so that participants arrive on Monday ready to learn.

The course content could be organized two ways: a disciplinary and cross-disciplinary approach. We will first present the disciplinary approach because inherently this model emphasizes the topics which respondents felt should be included in the ABF. Table 5-1 presents survey findings for topics to be included according to their respective discipline. Ultimately, however, the ABF has been designed around themes which offer a cross-disciplinary perspective. The thematic design recognizes the reality that organizations function across academic disciplines. For example, products and services are priced with both an eye to sales (a marketing topic) and to finance.

Table 5-1 Functional ABF Program Design and Its Content

Discipline	Specific Topics
Finance	Financial planning and review
	Cashflow management
	Debt management and new financing
	Taxation in foreign countries
	Cost allocation and control
	Risk Management
Business Environment	Seek out and evaluate potential partners
	Market analysis at industry level
	Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries
	Understand and manage complexity of foreign distribution channels
	Read economic and political data to interpret trends
Marketing	Expand distribution networks in foreign countries
	Determine the appropriate pricing of products and services to stay
	competitive
	Develop new products and services for the foreign markets
	Gather foreign market intelligence
	Promote brand awareness through Internet
Cross-cultural	Foreign business practices
Management	Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners
	Manage partner relations
	Negotiate across cultures
	Retain and motivate employees in foreign operations
	Identify and attract necessary talent (not included in the Survey)

A trade-off exists when organizing the program content by discipline. The benefits are that traditional disciplines will be easily recognized by potential ABF participants. Applicants should understand exactly what they will be learning. Additionally, finding course content, such as case studies or pre-readings, should also be a relatively easy when content is organized by discipline. Simply put, a disciplinary approach matches well with how many universities operate, faculty teach and conduct research, and service providers organize and deliver courses. A disciplinary approach might be described as the path of least resistance, from an academic administrative perspective.

The trade-off however, may be with regards to time. Considering the number of topics which have been identified as important, and a program designed to move through these step-by-step according to discipline function, will likely need more than five days. Additionally, a disciplinary approach may complicate marketing and outreach if the ABF is to appear innovative when compared to typical university or commercial open-enrolment programs.

The alternative is to design the program across disciplines, according to themes.

Where would the programs themes come from? The literature review revealed four cornerstones to internationalization research: the foreign-direct investment model, stage models (behavioural), network models, and market entry models. Each research perspective offers a different orientation. The FDI approach and market entry approaches invite us to examine the external operating environment. Network theory invites us to look laterally towards partners. Finally, the stages model emphasizes an internal orientation examining firms' processes and management decisions. Using this distinction between external, lateral, and internal, the survey findings can be categorized according to four themes: Market analysis, partners, internal operations, and legal issues.

Table 5-2 Proposed Thematic Course Content***

Orientation	Theme	Course Content*	Corresponding Survey
			Category and Rank
External	Market	Market analysis at industry level	BE-Required #1; Important #1
	Analysis	Foreign business practices	CCM-Required #2; Important #1
		Foreign market intelligence	MKT-Important #2
		Habits and attitudes of foreign customers	CCM-Important #2
		Understand and manage complexity of foreign distribution channels	BE-Important #3
		Read economic and political data to interpret trends	BE-Important #4
	Legal Issues	Taxation in foreign countries	FIN- Required #1
		Legal and regulatory frameworks	BE -Required #3
Lateral	Partners	Seek out and evaluate potential partners Manage partner relations	BE - Required #1; Important #2 CCM -Required #1; Important #3
		Expand distribution networks in foreign	MKT-Required #2; Important
		countries	#1
		Negotiation across cultures	CCM-Required #3; Important #4
Internal	Internal	Financial planning and review	FIN-Important #1
	Operations	Cashflow management	FIN-Important #2
	•	Risk management	FIN-Required #2
		Debt management	FIN-Important #3
		Cost allocation and control	FIN- Required #3; Important #4
		Determine the appropriate pricing of the	MKT-Required #1; Important
		products and services	#3
		Develop new products and services	MKT-Required #3
		Promote brand awareness through Internet	MKT-Important #4
		Identify and attract necessary talent	CCM**

^{*} BE = Business environment, MKT = Marketing, CCM = Cross-cultural Management, and FIN = Finance. The corresponding rank, according to the survey results, is also indicated.

^{**} Though identifying and attracting talent was not specifically singled out in the survey study, the literature review raises the issue as being critical to SMEs around the globe and thus is included as an HR concern.

^{***} The findings presented in Table 5-2 are based on the entire data sample from the survey study.

Before discussing the program delivery, it is important to clarify how the course content was determined. First, the survey design distinguished between: 1) what is *required* for the business to expand, and 2) what topics the survey respondents felt were *important* for them to do so (See Appendix 5). We examined what respondents felt was required for a business to internationalize and compared that with what they felt was important to acquire at this point in their development.

- Required to internationalize. The recommended course content includes the top three capacities that survey respondents felt were required for a business to internationalize. This top-three rule was applied to all four categories of finance, business environment, marketing, and cross-cultural management. (see Tables 4-1, 4-4, 4-7, and 4-10 for the survey results of what respondents felt is required).
- Important to learn. The top four topics that survey respondents felt were important for them to learn were also chosen. This top-four rule was applied equally to the findings for finance, business environment, marketing, and cross-cultural management. (See Tables 4-2, 4-5, 4-8, and 4-11 for the survey results of what respondents felt are required).

Slightly greater weight, four items instead of three, was given to topics that respondents said were *important* for them to learn. The reason for giving greater weight is that the important topics represent what survey respondents, people who are potential candidates for the ABF program, want to learn more about. Topics required to internationalize may not be important to learn, in the eyes of survey respondents, precisely because they are required. If a company has gone international, or has started the process, then they may already possess the required capacities. Thus, survey respondents may be ready to move beyond some of the required topics.

Gaps between what is required and what is important also help us think about the weight given to each topic. The responses for Finance illustrate how we can weigh each topic.

Table 5-3 Summary Findings on Financial Capabilities *

Required	Importance	Top Two Ideal Acquisition Methods
1. Taxation in foreign countries	6	 Lecture or expert seminar Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
2. Cost allocation and control	4	Lecture or expert seminar On-the-job training
3. Risk management	5	Lecture or expert seminar On-the-job training

^{*} The findings presented in Table 5-3 are based on the entire data sample from the survey study.

Table 5-3 illustrates that what respondents felt was required, and what was important for them to learn, are different. There was no overlap between the two lists. Returning to the demographics of our survey respondents, the gap between what is required and what is important may be understood as a reflection of the knowledge and experience base that potential participants would bring to the ABF. If their firm has been in business for several years, and they are successful enough to think about international expansion, then it is reasonable to assume that they already possess some knowledge of financial planning, cashflow, and debt. Consequently, there are three alternatives for thinking about how these topics might be weighted and addressed in the overall program design.

- Self-study. If adult learners are able to operate in a more self-directed manner, as the
 literature on andragogy has argued, then giving pre-readings and allowing participants to
 refresh their memory or even study as they need seems an appropriate option. Similarly,
 pre-assignments such as CD-ROM based or on-line simulations, could accomplish the same
 goal. On-line surveys could be used to gauge how many fellows succeed with self-study.
- 2. Peer to Peer. Pre-course surveys might allow you to design peer-to-peer discussions where more experienced participants are paired with the less experienced. A short case, exercise, or simulation might then allow then to discuss topics such as debt management.

Options one and two have the advantage of consuming less of our limited classroom time. A third option, however, exists.

3. Expert to peer. Respondents clearly indicated that they prefer to learn finance by lecture, with networking and peer discussion as the secondary preference. (see Appendix 11-A for the full data set regarding preferred method of acquisition for finance). While a classroom lecture followed by a peer-to-peer case discussion might work well, according to our findings, the price is that valuable classroom time is being used for a topic which shows a clear gap between what is required for the firm and what respondents felt was important to learn.

Simply as a point of contrast, let's also consider the results for Business Environment.

Table 5-4 Summary Findings on Business Environment Capabilities *

Required	Importance	Top Two Ideal Acquisition Methods
Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations	2	 Networking and/or peer discussion Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
2. Market analysis at the industry level	1	 Networking and/or peer discussion Lecture or expert seminar Self Study
3. Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries	6	 Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills Networking and/or peer discussion

^{*} The findings presented in Table 5-4 are based on the entire data sample from the survey study.

Note the clear overlap between what is required and what is important. The first two items are the same in both lists (the order is simply reversed). This overlap tells us that not only the capacity important for the firm to internationalize, but also that our respondents want to learn more about evaluating foreign partners and analyzing markets at the industry level. Thus, in situations where we have such clear overlap, classroom time can and should be devoted to these topics. The legal and regulatory framework (which was ranked last in importance) might then be introduced as either a pre-reading or perhaps a guest lecture before a networking event.

A quick look at Marketing reveals similar overlaps.

Table 5-5 Summary Findings on Marketing Capabilities *

Required	Importance	Top Two Ideal Acquisition Methods
Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services to stay competitive	3	 Networking and/or peer discussion On-the-job training
2. Expand distribution networks in foreign operations	1	 Networking and/or peer discussion Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
3. Develop new products and services for the foreign markets	5	 Networking and/or peer discussion On-the-job training

^{*} The findings presented in Table 5-5 are based on the entire data sample from the survey study.

Pricing clearly emerges as a topic which is both required and important for our respondents to learn about. Understanding how to expand distribution networks is equally important. Developing new

products, however, might be better addressed through self-study or some other delivery option which does not require us to use limited class time.

Finally, the gap analysis for cross-cultural management reveals that partner relations and foreign business practices deserve to be emphasized in the classroom.

Table 5-6 Summary Findings on Cross Cultural Management Capabilities *

Required	Importance	Top Two Ideal Acquisition Methods
1. Manage partner relations	3	 Networking and/or peer discussion On-the-job training
2. Foreign business practices	1	 Networking and/or peer discussion On-the-job training + Lecture or expert seminar
3. Negotiate across cultures	4	 Networking and/or peer discussion On-the-job training

^{*} The findings presented in Table 5-5 are based on the entire data sample from the survey study.

Cross-cultural negotiation appears to be a borderline issue. While certainly required, it is not ranked as most important by respondents. The one advantage to devoting class time to cross-cultural negotiation is that the topic inherently lends itself to role plays, interaction, and peer discussions. Such an experience is in line with what survey respondents indicated was their generally preferred method of acquiring new skills and knowledge. Additionally, the ability for almost any institution of higher learning to deliver an effective module on cross-cultural negotiation is high because numerous cross-cultural negotiations and case studies are already in existence. Finally, many fellows will likely bring a strong experience base, potentially leading to rich classroom conversations.

Table 5-7 presents the topics which this study indicates that classroom time should be devoted to.

Table 5-7 Topics Deserving Dedicated Classroom Time *

Function	Topic
Finance	Financial planning and review
	Cashflow management
	Debt management and financing
	Cost allocation and control
Business Environment	Seek out and evaluate potential partners
	Market analysis at the industry level
Marketing	Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services
	Expanding distribution networks
Cross-cultural Management	Foreign business practices
	Manage partner relations
	Negotiate across cultures

^{*} The findings presented in Table 5-7 are based on the entire data sample from the survey study.

...Pg 29

Table 5-8 presents those topics which can beneficially be included in the program, but alternate methods of delivery or learning may be appropriate when available classroom time is limited.

Table 5-8 Topics to be Included Using Alternate Delivery Methods*

Function	Topic
Finance	Taxation in foreign countries
	Risk Management
Business Environment	Understand and manage complexity of foreign distribution
	channels
	Read economic and political data to interpret trends
	Legal and regulatory frameworks
Marketing	Foreign market intelligence
	Develop new products and services
Cross-cultural Management	Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and
	partners
	Management style required in specific foreign context
	Identify and attract necessary talent

^{*} The findings presented in Table 5-8 are based on the entire data sample from the survey study.

Any of the topics in Table 5-8 could be given dedicated classroom time once the essential topics are covered. Recognizing that the list of topics reasonably exceeds the available classroom hours, difficult choices must be made. Those choices could be driven by available faculty and teaching expertise, particular market conditions, or even availability of teaching materials to name just a few. Tables 5-7 and 5-8 simply rely on the gap analysis to divide the program content in two categories of what should be discussed in the classroom, and what can be discussed in the classroom or also by alternate means (e.g., self-study, guest panel, on-line interactive module, etc).

Before concluding the topic of program design, a few words should be shared about technology. As the Internet's reach continues to grow, the ABF might consider how some of these topics can be delivered on-line either before the program or after. All learning need not be limited to the five-and-a-half days or in the classroom. As part of the program design, a blend of on-line modules and pre-readings might be combined with the in-market program to build a more comprehensive program. SME leaders who often act as player-coaches may not be free to leave their business for two full weeks (the amount of time that would be required to cover *all* topics discussed in this report and not just the *recommended* ABF topics). The Internet, and tying the award of a certificate with the completion of both on-line and classroom modules, may be yet another means of better supporting SME leaders and ensuring that the required and important topics are adequately covered.

...Pg 30

Finally, one topic was added to the proposed course design and content because of findings from the literature review. Identifying and attracting talent should be included in the ABF course design and content. Throughout this study, the topic of identifying and attracting talent has slowly emerged as being distinct from retaining and motivating existing employees. Because of the importance placed on identifying and attracting talent in the global literature base, this topic has been included because of findings from the literature review.

5.2 Program Delivery

The survey reveals two primary preferences for delivering the ABF (i.e., how respondents prefer to acquire the new knowledge or capacity).

- Finance topics should be taught through lecture, as revealed by the survey findings.
 Networking and on-the-job training emerged as secondary preferences for learning finance.
 Perhaps there is little surprise that lecture is preferred when the subject has a more quantitative nature and a relatively exact set of steps to be performed.
- Business environment, marketing, and cross-cultural management all revealed a preference for learning through networking. The secondary preferences for these three topics were lecture with either self-study or outsourcing the work altogether.

Broadly speaking, survey responses indicate that finance topics should be delivered with faculty-centered approaches like lecture and then progress toward more peer-oriented deliveries. The remaining topics should begin with more learner-centered approaches which can be complemented with self-study or perhaps mini-lectures.

Regarding the topics of business environment, marketing, and cross-cultural management, for which respondents indicate a greater preference for networking and peer discussion, the following few options are available for delivering the program in a more learner-centered style.

Networking events and partnerships with local organizations. Connecting ABF participants
with local practitioners should be a primary program goal, and partnering with organizations
such as American Chambers of Commerce or Chinese Chambers may be a successful way of
making these connections. Partnerships with local organizations appear to be potentially
rich opportunities for hosting successful networking events.

Panels or guest speakers. Networking events, mentioned above, could be opened with
panel discussions including experienced in-market professionals. Creating a shared
experience, such as a panel or speech, will provide a common platform for ABF participants
and in-market business professionals to discuss and network. This common experience can
also serve as a point of reflection and debriefing the following morning.

- Mentorship program. Learning could be extended beyond the five-and-a-half day program through mentoring. One option is peer mentors who experience the ABF as a fixed quartet (four person group). This quartet would study and work together throughout the program, and then remain in touch afterwards. The same could be accomplished with more traditional mentor programs where we pair the fellows with senior business professional in their home country or the host country (as each participant prefers). Internet communications could be used to keep in touch with the mentor and mentee, and encourage further meetings and discussions.
- Self-study. One important point to remember is that not every topic recommended for the ABF must be taught in the classroom. If that was the case, then the list of suggested topics might add up to a two-week program. Instead, learners can complete some pre-readings prior to the arriving for the ABF. Simple methods such as five-question on-line surveys, to be completed after reading the text, could be used to encourage self-study. Additionally, technology offers additional self-study solutions. Numerous on-line or CD-ROM based modules are available via third party vendors.
- Live cases. As an alternative to printed Harvard style case studies, program administrators might invite a local business to serve as a live case. Ideally, this would be a company that has gone international in the last few years, and is comfortable operating under a situation including the Chatham House rule, sharing information with participants, and then gathering insights from participants who work on the business challenges which were presented.

Similarly, participants could bring in their own challenges for discussion. An excellent example of bringing practical experiences and questions into the executive classroom would be Harvard's *Your Own Case Study* (product number 9-405-037 at Harvard Business Online). Here participants create a mini-case based on an experience they wish to discuss.

These are five different ways in which the program delivery could be moved in the direction of a learner-centered experience. From the perspective of andragogy research, the above set of delivery alternatives makes sense because they move the program in a more learner-centered direction. Additionally, they contextualize discussions within the professional role faced by SME leaders, and

they also ask participants to discuss and reflect on their own experiences. Finally, each alternative provides a platform where participants can share and discuss their experiences as part of the learning process.

Regardless of the specific method used to connect ABF participants with practitioners, one essential point to remember is that the networking events are not merely meet-and-greet sessions. The events should begin with specific learning objectives in mind, and should be facilitated as structured networking events. In concise terms, a structured networking event will have learning objectives, common activities and discussion points shared by all participants (i.e., ABF participants and guests), and the sessions should be debriefed the following day for approximately ten minutes to encourage further reflection. To illustrate, learning goals can be clearly stated, participants can be given up to three questions for discussion, and then the experience can be debriefed the next morning. Networking events should never stray from their pedagogical purpose; all segments of the ABF should strive to deliver the greatest educational value for participants.

Program administrators, however, will need to consider the choices carefully in terms of resource commitments and ability to deliver. Getting a local corporation to serve as a live case and share the time of senior executives may appear difficult compared to asking participants to craft their own mini case for in-class discussion. Similarly, getting local professionals to serve as mentors for 6-12 months may seem difficult compared to inviting professionals to a panel discussion and networking event. Assigning pre-readings is an extremely low commitment, but designing short follow-up surveys that act as an incentive to complete pre-readings is a greater commitment of faculty and staff time. Program administrators must carefully consider the resources they are willing to invest as we strive to deliver a learner-centered program.

In short, a successful learner-centered program will require a greater investment from the IHL in terms of faculty and staff hours, building pre-assignments, and overall administration.

Learning that the ABF's target audience has a strong preference for learner-centered sessions and a matching preference for networking (for non-financial topics) raises several interesting questions. All, unfortunately, cannot be answered by the data collected during this study. questions may help you think about balancing the somewhat-competing tensions between offering a consistent program in all markets while also tailoring the program to each host market or diverse audiences.

First, lecture consistently scores well as a preferred method of delivery for certain topic areas, but this finding stands in some contrast to the literature review and the study of andragogy which teaches us that adult audiences strive to become more self-directed learners capable of interacting with a subject on their own terms (rather than terms dictated by a lecturer). As food for thought, we can speculate that history and culture, more specifically the tradition of delivering education in the lecture format, has socialized respondents to expect or even prefer a more passive educational model. Certainly, some participants may initially feel more comfortable falling back into the well-known passive learner role. In other words, respondents may be asking for a learning style they know and are comfortable with (especially in a more technical discipline like finance). As the research on androgogy teaches us, we must consider the learning context and any situational analysis must consider the preferences and past experiences of learners. We must balance the need to adapt with the need to challenge participants with new "stretch" experiences.

Second, the case method scores moderately well as a preferred learning method across the four topics. It ranks neither at the top or bottom. Certainly the history of business school education with its strong emphasis on cases, along with andragogy and its emphasis on problem-centered learning which connects with professional life, suggests that the case method might receive greater support from survey respondents. Our survey results may offer good reason to pause and think about the role of facilitated case discussion in the ABF. While it may be difficult to imagine an executive business program without case studies, our survey results also suggest that perhaps cases should not be the dominant instructional method. Cases instead might serve as useful tools for illustrating ideas previously lectured or read about, or as launching points before program attendees go into other experiences such as networking events or peer exercises and reviews. Cases should clearly be a part of the equation, but perhaps not the dominant approach.

5.3 Adapting the ABF to Local Participants

Singapore's SME leaders responded enthusiastically to the call for survey participants, making up 42% of the total response set. Consequently, having such a strong voice in the overall survey, few adaptations will be required were an ABF delivered to a predominantly local (Singaporean) audience. Only two significant differences emerged when the overall data set was compared to the Singapore-specific findings. Singaporean respondents demonstrated a slight preference for topics which might be categorized as *planning*.

• Financial planning and review. Singaporean respondents indicated that this topic was both required and important. In the overall findings, this topic was certainly deemed important,

but not required. See Table 4-3 of this report for the complete findings for financial capabilities.

 Gathering foreign market intelligence. Singaporeans ranked this topic as both required and important. In the overall data set, respondents viewed the topic as less required and less important. See Table 4-9 of this report for the complete findings for marketing capabilities.

Together, the two differences suggest that the Singaporean SME audience will have a slightly larger appetite for learning modules that include planning and effective use of data. All other findings from the Singapore-specific data set, however, are nearly identical to the overall survey findings.

Adapting the ABF to a local audience composed mostly or entirely of Singaporeans should prove relatively easy. First, one of the elective course modules could be dedicated to financial planning and review. The same approach might also be used for *gathering foreign market intelligence*. A second method of adapting to a predominantly local audience would be to adjust the morning *Nuts & Bolts* session. When designing these ground-level conversations to kick-off each day, IHLs will not want to hold discussions which are too basic for local participants. Either of these topics could be easily included during the *Nuts & Bolts* morning session and led by a practitioner. Section 6 discusses this issue at length, and offers advice for adapting the morning session to more experienced local participants (see Section 6.3).

Should the host institution offer the ABF to a predominantly local audience, a small amount of additional emphasis might be given to planning. The topics of *Financial planning and review*, and *Gathering foreign market intelligence*, could be included. Otherwise, little adaptation will be required (see Section 6 for a full program description).

6. PROPOSED TRAINING FRAMEWORK

We propose a five-and-a-half day in-market business fellowship program. We recommend:

- 1. A strong inclination towards more learner-centered delivery models such as networking, discussion, and individual tasks looking at the participant's current business challenges.
- 2. A delivery model of about three-quarters length classroom days, allowing participants ample time for networking.
- 3. A support group structure such that participants go through the program as a quartet (four person group) for both social and intellectual reasons. Pre-assigning participants into groups will allow the socialization process to mature more quickly, and it also gives program administrators the ability to control group composition in such a way that program objectives are best met (e.g., we ensure that each quartet is culturally diverse before assigning an exercise on cross-cultural negotiation).
- 4. A strong follow-up to the fellowship such that SME participants keep in contact after concluding the program's classroom modules. An on-going network of SME leaders is perhaps one of the greatest contributions this fellowship can offer in support of SME internationalization.

6.1 Structure of the ABF

Table 6-1 presents the overall proposed framework for the ABF.

Table 6-1 ABF Stakeholder Interests and Program Characteristics

	Nuts-and-Bolts Discussions	Classroom Topics	Networking, Panels, and Site Visits
Overseas Fellows	High audience interest Low audience interest	Moderate to high interest Moderate to high interest	High interest High interest
Program Characteristics	 Opportunity to share ground-level specifics Delivered by agency or experienced SME leader 	 Value-adding topics identified in survey study Lecture for financial topics Discussion methods for non-financial topics 	 Partner will local bodies such as AmCham or Chinese Chambers Governmental and agency representatives Site visits to successful SMEs
Second Track Option	Coffee conversations with local business, NGO, and political leaders. Emerging issue discussions.	none	none

Pi

The second track is an option, presented to host institutions, if there participants are a mix of local and visiting fellows. The morning *Nuts & Bolts* must be adapted to the unique set of participants attending each program run. Local participants may not be interested in a *Nuts & Bolts* discussions which tells introduces participants to processes and regulations for incorporating. Instead, the local participants would be given a second option, run concurrently, to join a coffee conversation in a neighbouring room which centers on an emerging issue and is facilitated by a local practitioners. All participants, therefore, can be given the opportunity to choose and discuss the topic most interesting to them.

A typical program day, therefore, might look something like the following.

Table 6-2 Proposed Daily Schedule for the ABF

Time	Activity	Notes
08:30 - 09:00	Coffee and breakfast	
09:00 – 10:15	Nuts-and-bolts discussions (both options 1 and 2)	Morning discussion with agency or business leaders.
10:15 – 10:45	Coffee	
10:45 – 12:30	Lecture, exercise, or case discussion	Executive education classroom portion of the day
12:30 -13:30	Lunch	
13:30 – 15:00	Lecture, exercise, or case discussion	Executive education classroom portion of the day
15:00- 18:00	Afternoon event	Site visit, panel discussion followed by networking event, guest presenter, etc
18:00 – 19:00	Networking cocktail reception	Optional time if networking event has not already been designed into the day
19:00	Dinner and evening free	

Over the course of one week, this general template could be applied to each of the themes identified in Section 5: market analysis, legal issues, partners, and internal operations.

Table 6-3 ABF Themes across Five-and-a-Half Program Days

Day	Theme	Notes		
Sunday evening	Welcome, ice-breaking, and establishing interactive norms	Begin with a brief guest talk on the host market, related to market analysis, break the ice, facilitate a discussion, and set interactive norms. Alternatively, run a brief case discussion to set norms.		
Monday	Market Analysis	Guest panel and networking reception in the afternoon		
Tuesday	Partners	Afternoon site visit and networking		
Wednesday	Internal operations	Guest panel and networking reception in the afternoon		
Thursday	Internal operations	Afternoon site visit and networking		
Friday	Legal Issues	No afternoon event; allow participants to depart no later than 3pm. Place legal issues here since it is the shortest topic and shortest day.		

Putting the pieces together, the final proposed schedule would look similar to the following example in Tables 6-4 (targeting mostly visiting fellows) and 6-5 (targeting a mixed audience of visiting and local fellows).

Table 6-4: Program Overview Targeting Mostly Visiting Fellows

	Day 1	Da	y 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	
Theme	Market Partners Analysis		ners	Internal Operations	Internal Operations	Legal Issues	
8.30 - 9.00 am				Coffee an	d Breakfast		
9:00 – 10:15 am			ut and uate ntial	Nuts & Bolts Debt Cost allocation Management and Financing Nuts & Bolts Control		Nuts & Bolts Taxation	
10.15 - 10.45 am				Tea/Coj	ffee break		
10.45 - 12.30 pm	Classroom Market Expand analysis at Distribution industry level Networks		and oution	Classroom Financial planning and review	Classroom Cashflow management	Classroom Legal and regulatory framework	
12.30 - 1.30 pm	Lui				ınch		
1.30 - 3.00 pm	Classroom Elective Topic 1*	Class Cross-o		Classroom Elective Topic 2* Classroom Pricing		Classroom Elective Topic 3*	
3.00 - 3.30 pm				Tea/Coj	ffee break		
3:30 – 6:00 pm	Site Visit and Panel Networking Discussion - Managing Partner Relations - and Networking		ssion - aging tner ns - and	Site Visit and Networking	Panel Discussion - Expanding Distribution Networks – and Networking	Depart Program's end	
	Marta P Dalt- Di			Lecture	Diagnasiona Matter 1	Matuanking and Cita William	
Legend	d discussions where for		for fir	ed learning style nance topics as d by respondents	Discussions Method Preferred learning style for non-financial topics as indicated by respondents	Networking and Site Visits Preferred program experience as indicated by respondents	

^{*} Elective topics are designed for customization purposes such that the thematic topics selected can be specific to issues that are important to that particular country running the program, e.g. For Day 1, an Elective Topic for Market Analysis could be "The Impact of the 2008 Financial Crisis for Country X" (Country X being the country that is running the program).

Table 6-5: Program Overview Targeting a Mix of Local and Visiting Fellows

		Day 1	Da	ay 2	D	ay 3	Da	ay 4		Day 5
Theme	Marke	et Analysis	Par	tners	Internal	Operations	Internal Operations		Legal Issues	
8.30 - 9.00 am					Coffee and	Breakfast				
						Two Tracks : Frack 1: Nuts-and-Bolts Discussion Frack 2: Emerging Issue Discussion				
9.00 - 10.15 am	Track 1: Local and Regional Business practices	Track 2: Emerging Issue – How can Iocal SMEs align business practices with others?	Track 1: Seek out and evaluate potential partners	Track 2: Emerging Issue – What does it mean to be a local partner?	Track 1: Debt Management and Financing	Track 2: Emerging Issue – Where else can local SMEs find financing in the local market	Track 1: Cost allocation and control	Track 2: Emerging Issue – How to keep costs down?	Track 1: Taxation	Track 2: Emerging Issue – What are the tax breaks for local SMEs expanding overseas?
10.15 - 10.45 am					Tea/Coffe	e break				
10.45 - 12.30 pm	Market analysis at industry level Expand		Expand Distribution Networks		Financial planning and review		Cashflow management		Legal and regulatory framework	
12.30 - 1.30 pm					Lun	ch				
1.30 - 3.00 pm	Elective Topic 1 Cross-cultural negotiations		al negotiations	Elective Topic 2 Pricing		icing	Elective Topic 3			
3.00 - 3.30 pm	Tea/Coffee break									
3:30 – 5:00 pm	Site Visit Panel Discussion - Managing		Site Visit		Panel Discussion - Expanding distribution networks		Depart Program's end			
5.00 - 6.00 pm					Evening Reception	and Networking			•	

Table 6-6 Specific Content Areas

Day	Topics	Specific Content
1	Local and Regional Business Practices	The etiquette of meeting, greeting, communication, gift giving, entertaining and business meetings.
1	Market Analysis at Industry Level	Population analysis, and market income analysis. Porter's 5 forces: supplier, buyer, substitutes, barriers to entry, and rivalry.
2	Seek and Evaluate Potential Partners	Non-financial forms of partner risk. Financial risk and creditworthiness. Task-related aspects of partner selection. Organizational learning aspects of partner selection process.
2	Expand Distribution Networks	Company evaluation: what are its products, resources, and needs from a distribution network? Revenue logic that makes sense for both parties. Challenges of forming a network and the challenges of managing the network.
2	Cross-Cultural Negotiations	 How to approach the negotiation, building rapport and other preparatory steps.
		 Preparation – acquiring information – tips on what, when and the way in which facts, statistics and other supporting evidence should be used in negotiations.
		 Negotiation tactics – examining cross cultural differences in negotiation styles such as haggling, stalling, changing demands, seeking concessions and closing deals.
3	Debt Management and Financing	Interest rate risk, fixed versus floating, long and short-term liabilities.
3	Financial Planning and Review	Financial risk management, link between strategic planning and financial performance, financial planning during the early stages of premarket entry, and budgeting.
4	Cashflow Management	Depreciation, research and development, earnings and cashflow, and how to expense.
4	Cost Allocation and Control	Managerial accounting, how to allocate fixed costs, cost allocation systems and accountability
4	Pricing	Making strategic pricing decisions; human capital and pricing; systems capital and pricing; social capital and pricing; responding effectively to a price war.
5	Taxation	Economic and political context of taxation, local issues in corporate reporting, corporate governance issues, GST, and international tax planning
5	Legal and Regulatory Framework	General business law, tax laws, intellectual property, contract law, and employment law.

6.2 Program Differentiation

How is the ABF different from other executive education or open enrollment programs targeting SMEs? The key differences include:

- A thematic focus which reflects the reality of organizations; that areas such as finance and marketing, for example, are not isolated and should be considered in tandem in thinking about internationalization.
- A strong link between the program modules and the preferred methods of learning based on survey respondents' preferences. In fact, non-traditional program delivery methods make up nearly half the program. Participants will have an experience which includes, but also reaches beyond lecture and case studies.
- Structured networking experiences integrated with site visits are designed into each day.
- Practitioner-led Nuts & Bolt discussions begin each day and offer a grounded discussion to begin each day.
- The emphasis on networking and participant-practitioner interactions offer an excellent opportunity for building public-private partnerships in support of the ABF.
- Sufficient flexibility has been designed into the program allowing host institutions ample room for tailoring the program to their market, faculty expertise, and facilities.

6.3 Host Institution Considerations

Institutions of Higher Learning (IHL) should possess three primary characteristics—executive education track record, community connections, and faculty expertise and facilities—when choosing to host the ABF.

First and foremost, a successful track record delivering SME executive programs should be in place. The literature review and focus groups are clear that SME demands are relatively unique when compared to those facing MNCs. Institutions bringing a well-established executive education track record, specifically aimed at SMEs, will be in the best position to host this program.

Second, potential hosts should also have strong community connections. One of the key characteristics of the ABF is its focus on learning through structured networking and building connections within the business community. Host institutions should not use the ABF as an opportunity to hopefully build or enhance such community connections, but instead be in a position to draw up existing relationships to host a successful ABF.

...Pg 42

Finally, faculty expertise and facilities should be considered. Can the potential host draw upon faculty experienced with SME research or executive education? Does the potential host have facilities which are ideal not just for the classroom portion of the program, but also for the structured networking events and panels? Finally, does the potential host have a proven track record as an institution which delivers interactive, discussion oriented sessions which survey respondents clearly preferred for all non-financial topics?

Once a host institution is selected, the host should given careful consideration to a range of cost issues which can directly impact the program's success. These cost items include but may not be limited to the following.

- Curriculum development. Since the ABF emphasizes in-market customization, the host
 institution most likely will not be able to rely on traditional case study clearinghouses for all
 course materials. The host institution must be prepared to invest in market-specific learning
 materials and case studies, and therefore material development fees are likely to increase.
- Faculty costs. The rate that is paid to the Faculty running the program will need to be
 considered, and this cost should be tied to the number of hours taught, and the design of
 the areas specific for the ABF.
- Hosting costs. These costs include cost of renting the training facility, transportation costs and catering costs. Including several site visits in the ABF will also increase transportation costs. The transportation needs should be considered early and figured into the program budget. With such a heavy emphasis on networking and community connections, food and beverage costs are likely to increase significantly compared to a tradition executive education program.

Additional yet more routine costs should also be considered. Marketing, printing, administrative support staff, and gifts for community volunteers as well as networking event guests should also be carefully considered.

Hosting IHLs can select from numerous professionals, agencies, or faculty to deliver any portion of this program. The best facilitators and speakers, however, should possess deep business knowledge and with top-flight presentation or facilitation skills. This general guideline will then manifest itself differently during each portion of the program. To illustrate, consider the three major components of the ABF.

Nuts-and-Bolts Discussion: The unique demand of this session will be deep awareness of
requirements and processes. For example, exactly how would an SME incorporate in the
host country? Government agencies responsible for supporting SMEs and incorporation, or
SME leaders who have successfully entered the market, might be ideal choices for leading
this discussion.

- Classroom Topics: Drawing from the literature review on andragogy, the typical executive
 classroom engages participants and creates learning opportunities through facilitated
 discussion or experiences (e.g., simulations or role plays). Additionally, our survey findings
 suggest that such an approach is appropriate for the non-financial topics. Therefore, the
 non-financial topics should be lead by the best facilitators while financial topics should be
 led by the best lecturers.
- Networking, Panels, and Site Visits: The final session of each day brings people together, gives a common platform for discussion, and then encourages participants to expand their professional networks. Here, partner agencies will be important. The most desirable partners will display a specific interest in SME groups (e.g., AmCham's SME special interest groups), have a member base for bringing local business professionals together with fellows, and ideally will have experience hosting similar events.

Each portion of the day, because it attempts to accomplish a different goal, will require a different style of leadership and partnership. An ABF delivering three unique experiences—Nuts & Bolts discussions, classroom discussion, and networking—should give careful thought to who are the partners and session leaders. The host IHL should treat each portion of the day as distinct, as having its own unique learning requirements, and then choose partners and course materials appropriately.

6.4 Conclusion

As the end of 2009 approaches, global economic conditions show early signs of leveling off and hopefully improving. SME s seeking to expand internationally can potentially take advantage of economic changes. Numerous studies from around the globe, however, indicate that SMEs need support if they are to successfully internationalize.

The ABF program is one of many ways SMEs can be supported. This study has looked specifically at the program design, content, and delivery of the ABF program and recommended numerous ways to adapt such a program to the needs of SMEs across the twenty-one APCE economies. Additionally,

alternatives have been shared so that program administrators and faculty in each market can adapt to the specific demands of their audience, local market needs, and of course institutional capacities.

Stepping up on the balcony and looking at the report findings, perhaps the single greatest lesson is that if the ABF is to be successful, then simply delivering the fellowship as another run-of-the-mill open enrollment program is not the best way to meet the needs of our audience—APEC's SMEs. Delivering a program that includes Nuts & Bolts discussions, appropriate classroom experiences, and superb networking opportunities will be essential. Additionally, adapting the delivery methods to the preferred learning methods of adult professionals will be key to convincing SME leaders—those in the classic player-coach role—to take time away from their business and become fully committed participants of an in-market program.

APPENDIX 1

STRUCTURED INTERVIEW GUIDE

Objectives: To understand

- 1. the kind of challenges (general) faced in internationalization for SMEs
- 2. the firm-level knowledge/skills/competencies required to navigate each of these challenges
- 3. how such firm-level knowledge/skills/competencies have been (can be) acquired for the internationalization effort

Background Information Required:

- o Name, Position
- Job responsibilities
- o Name of Organization
- Number of Employees
- What is the scope of your current activities? Are you largely based in Singapore, and have your SME already internationalized?
 - If yes, to what countries/regions? Describe the type of operations engaged in these locations.
 - o If not, does your SME plan to do so? Any timeframe?
- Business Activity: Nature of your Principal business:
 - o Wholesale of raw materials, food, beverages, and tobacco
 - Wholesale of household goods
 - o Wholesale of non-agricultural intermediate products, waste and scrap
 - o Wholesale of machinery, equipment and supplies
 - Wholesale of transport equipment
 - Commodity Trading (specify types of products)
 - Manufacturing (specify types of commodities)
 - Service providers (specify service)
 - Broking
 - Consultancy

o Industry:

- 1. Agriculture, Livestock, Plantations and Commodities
- 2. Automotive
- 3. Chemical and Plastics
- 4. Construction, Property Development and Building Materials
- 5. Consumer Goods
- 6. Education and Training
- 7. Electrical and Electronics
- 8. Financial Services
- 9. Food & Beverage
- 10. Furniture and Wood based Manufacturing
- 11. Healthcare, Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology
- 12. Hospitality, Food Service and Tourism
- 13. Industrial and Commercial Products
- 14. Oil & Gas, Mining and Energy
- 15. Personal Services
- 16. Professional and Business Services
- 17. Retail
- 18. Telecommunications and ICT
- 19. Trading and Wholesaling
- 20. Transportation and logistics

....P

- What are the kinds of challenges (general) faced in internationalization for SMEs like your organization?
- Respondents will list a few major challenges
- For each challenge faced, we will probe with the following questions:
 - O Why is it challenging?
 - o Is this challenge specific to SMEs?
 - What are some of the solutions (<u>or potential solutions</u>) you have in mind for dealing with this current challenge?
 - To what extent does the current firm-level knowledge/skills/competencies facilitate or impede the resolution of this challenge?
 - What are some of the major issues affecting skills development for meeting this challenge in SMEs?
 - <u>Probe:</u> e.g., too busy to attend courses, fees too high, not interested in skills development, technical skills development programs available but not good enough or specific skills development programs or courses not available, tendency of employees resigning after received training, limited budget, ease in employing so no need for skills development programs, etc.
 - What are some skills development courses and programmes that are popular among SMEs? Who are the organisers?
- How and when do SMEs decide to internationalize?
- To what extent does the current ability of its employees determine internationalization efforts?
 - O Who usually heads such an initiative?
 - What is the profile of such an individual?
 - 1. Typical job scope
 - 2. Desired qualities
 - 3. Hard Skills vs. Soft Skills
 - 4. Core Skills vs. Peripheral Skills
 - 5. Mindset Issue:
 - o Flexible and resilient in meeting with frequent changes
 - Interested and want to do more
 - Willing to take up challenges
 - Customer-service oriented-more sensitive in meeting the needs of customers
 - What critical knowledge/skills/competencies does such an individual need? e.g. prior overseas experience, additional qualification, financial knowledge
 - What is the biggest challenge such individuals face in the internationalization effort?
 - o What are the TOP THREE HR concerns in your SME with regard to such individuals?
 - Describe the types of training program provided for this group of individuals.
- What are the main problems or difficulties faced by your SME when it comes to providing training for these individuals?

APPENDIX 2 COMPOSITION OF SMES INTERVIEWED (BY REVENUE AND INDUSTRY)

		Size (revenue)	
	<sgd10 million<="" th=""><th>SGD\$10-29.9 million</th><th>> SGD \$30 million</th></sgd10>	SGD\$10-29.9 million	> SGD \$30 million
Wholesale and Trading			Company F (FG1)
Services	1. Company A (FG1) 2. Company B (FG2) 3. Company C J. (FG2)	Company E (FG1)	
Technology	1. Company G (1-1) 2. Company H (FG1)		
Manufacturing			1. Company I (FG1) 2. Company J (1-1)

^{*} FG-Focus group meetings, 1-1 – one on one meeting

^{**} One-on-one meeting: Company G (16 Apr 2009); Company J (15 May 2009)

^{***} Focus group meeting: FG1 – 4 May 2009; FG2 - 7 May 2009

APPENDIX 3 COMPOSITION OF SMES INTERVIEWED (BY LENGTH OF INTERNATIONALIZATION)

Length	Company			
<5 years	1. Company B (Services)			
	2. Company I (Manufacturing)			
	3. Company H (Technology)			
5 to <10 years	1. Company A (Services)			
	2. Company G (Technology)			
	3. Company C (Services)			
	4. Company E (Services)			
>= 10 years	1. Company J (Manufacturing)			
	2. Company F (Trading)			

APPENDIX 4

FOCUS GROUP INTERVIEW HIGHLIGHTS

- 1. Selecting the right partner in going international is most important. In addition, being able to negotiate and understand language differences play a big role. That includes being culturally sensitive.
- 2. Local knowledge need to understand the political dynamics of the country one is venturing into, and that includes the socio-economic background. Getting to the right network and understanding those nuances are most important. Developing the right contacts plays a big role in internationalization. Need to understand how the manage the locals and find the right local talent to work in the foreign operations is a challenge too.
- 3. Legal aspects play a big role, e.g. immigration procedures for employees in the service sector that are going international.
- 4. Managing partner relations, under the broad umbrella of managing JVs etc are important areas as expectations etc are usually not well discussed and communicated. Overall, participants stressed the importance of understanding human behaviors in cross cultural context.
- 5. In connection to the internationalization issue is that of succession planning. SMEs need to do that alongside with their efforts in internationalization as there is a need for continuity especially if family members are not interested in the business.
- 6. As SMEs are focused on cash management, there is a need to expose them to different sources of financing and ways of managing that as well. Risk management is another area to delve in, especially for companies going into developing countries where there is more volatility and risk is higher.
- 7. The focus of delivery is important-participants noted that it is highly unlikely that the first generation entrepreneurs would attend class, we are better off targeting the second generation who are better educated and who would be more interested in internationalization
- 8. Pedagogy is important for the delivery of program-inviting guest speakers from industry, having case studies that are relevant, interacting with fellow participants
- 9. Another area to consider is the length of the program-SME owners may not have that much time to participate in a long program.

APPENDIX 5 FINAL QUESTIONNAIRE

SECTON 1 COMPANY BACKGROUND

1.1	Which year was your company formed?	
1.2	What is your company's main business?	
	Wholesale Manufacturing	Property Finance
	ConstructionServicesCommunications, Transport and StorageRetail	HoldingsHotels/Food EstablishmentsOthers, please specify:
1.3	What is your TITLE/POSITION in the company?	
1.4	Which APEC Member Economy is your company	y located in?
1.5	Does your company plan to engage in internation distribution network, etc)? YesNoUnsure	onal activities (e.g. exporting, setting up a
1.6	We have already internationalized If your company has already internationalized, when the presence in? Please list ALL.	which other countries does your company have a
1.7	How many employees are there in your compar For your domestic activities : For your int	
1.8	If your company operates outside its domestic of internationalize?	country, in which YEAR did your company start to
1.9	Your company is now: active in international activities aspiring to be active (future potential/desire not-active in international activities (without international activities)	

	t is the main approach used or is being considered by your company in your onal activities?
Арро	intment of overseas distributors/agents
Overs	eas alliances (joint venture/partnerships etc)
Francl	hising
Settin	g up overseas branches/offices/subsidiaries
Other	s, please specify:
	se indicate your company's total revenue in 2007. than USD \$60 million
USD \$	50 million to less than USD \$60 million
USD \$	40 million to less than USD \$50 million
USD \$	30 million to less than USD \$40 million
USD \$	20 million to less than USD \$30 million
USD \$	10 million to less than USD \$20 million
USD \$	1 million to less than USD \$10 million
Less t	han USD \$1 million
	se indicate your company's total revenue in 2008. than USD \$60 million
USD \$	50 million to less than USD \$60 million
USD \$	40 million to less than USD \$50 million
USD \$	30 million to less than USD \$40 million
USD \$	20 million to less than USD \$30 million
USD \$	10 million to less than USD \$20 million
USD \$	1 million to less than USD \$10 million
Less t	han USD \$1 million
	t is the approximate PERCENTAGE of your total revenue that was generated from onal activities in the last two years? 2007 2008

SECTION 2 FINANCIAL CAPABILITIES

2.1 In your company's international activities, to what extent do you require capabilities in the following areas? Indicate with the following scale ranking from (1) DO NOT REQUIRE to (1) GREATLY REQUIRED.

1. DO NOT	2 2) 1	5. GREATLY	
REQUIRE	2 3) 4	REQUIRED	

- 1. Financial planning and review in foreign operations e.g. using different types of financing; internal, equity and debt, and how credit facilities are granted
- 2. Debt management and new financing e.g. types of collaterals used by the company for debt financing
- 3. Cashflow management e.g. understanding how to grant credit to foreign customers
- 4. Cost allocation and control e.g. understanding costs such as insurance costs, transportation costs and costs of customs administration
- 5. Risk management e.g. foreign currency exchange risks
- 6. Taxation in foreign countries such as tax laws and tax filing processes
- 7. Others, please specify
- 2.2 Please indicate up to THREE ideal ways to acquire each of the following FINANCIAL CAPABILITY.

Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated Case Study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
------------------------------------	------------------------------	-----------------------------	---	----------------------------	---	---

1. Financial planning and review in foreign operations - e.g. using different types of financing; internal, equity and debt, and how credit facilities are granted 2. Debt management and new financing e.g. types of collaterals used by the company for debt financing

3. Cashflow management – e.g. understanding how to grant credit to foreign customers 4. Cost allocation and control – e.g. understanding costs such as insurance costs, transportation costs and costs of customs administration 5. Risk management – e.g. foreign currency exchange risks 6. Taxation in foreign countries such as tax laws and tax filing processes 7. Others, please specify 2.3 Please rank the following FINANCIAL CAPABILITIES required with 1 being the most important. Please fill in additional capabilities (if needed). Financial planning and review in foreign operations – e.g. using different types of financing; internal, equity and debt, and how credit facilities are granted Debt management and new financing – e.g. types of collaterals used by the company for debt		Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated Case Study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
Please fill in additional capabilities (if needed). Financial planning and review in foreign operations – e.g. using different types of financing; internal, equity and debt, and how credit facilities are granted Debt management and new financing – e.g. types of collaterals used by the company for debt financing Cashflow management – e.g. understanding how to grant credit to foreign customers Cost allocation and control – e.g. understanding costs such as insurance costs, transportation costs and costs of customs administration Risk management – e.g. foreign currency exchange risks	3. Cashflow management – e.g. understanding how to grant credit to foreign customers 4. Cost allocation and control – e.g. understanding costs such as insurance costs, transportation costs and costs of customs administration 5. Risk management – e.g. foreign currency exchange risks 6. Taxation in foreign countries such as tax laws and tax filing processes 7. Others, please specify							Skills
Debt management and new financing – e.g. types of collaterals used by the company for debt financing Cashflow management – e.g. understanding how to grant credit to foreign customers Cost allocation and control – e.g. understanding costs such as insurance costs, transportation costs and costs of customs administration Risk management – e.g. foreign currency exchange risks	Please fill in additio Financial planni	nal capabi	lities (if need iew in foreig	ded). gn operation:	s – e.g. using c			
 Cost allocation and control – e.g. understanding costs such as insurance costs, transportation costs and costs of customs administration Risk management – e.g. foreign currency exchange risks 						used by the	e company	for debt
costs and costs of customs administration Risk management – e.g. foreign currency exchange risks	Cashflow manag	gement – e	e.g. understa	anding how t	o grant credit	to foreign	customers	
			_	_	osts such as in	surance co	osts, transpo	ortation
Taxation in foreign countries such as tax laws and tax filing processes	Risk manageme	nt – e.g. fo	oreign currer	ncy exchange	e risks			
	Taxation in fore	ign countr	ies such as t	ax laws and t	tax filing proce	esses		

SECTON 3 BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT CAPABILITIES

3.1 In your company's international activities, to what extent do you require capabilities in the following areas? Indicate with the following scale ranking from (1) DO NOT REQUIRE to (5) GREATLY REQUIRED.

1. DO NOT	2	2 4	5. GREATLY
REQUIRE	2	3 4	REQUIRED

- 1. Read economic and political data to interpret and anticipate trends at the global, regional and country levels
- 2. Market analysis at the industry level e.g. scan, locate and analyze foreign external environments for opportunities
- 3. Understand and manage the complexity of foreign distribution channels
- 4. Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations
- 5. Tap into networks such as trade associations and chambers of commerce in foreign countries
- 6. Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries e.g. knowing how to enforce contracts and resolve disputes, level of protection of intellectual property
- 7. Others, please specify
- 3.2 Please indicate up to THREE ideal ways to acquire each of the following BUSINESS **ENVIRONMENT CAPABILITIES.**

						Outsource
Lecture					Self	and/or
	Facilitated	Tutoring	Networking	On-the-	Study	recruit
or	Case	or	and/or peer	iob	(e.g.	personnel
expert	Study	mentoring	discussion	training	online	with
seminar	Study	memoring	uiscussioii	trairing		_
					training)	required
						skills

- 1. Read economic and political data to interpret and anticipate trends at the global, regional and country levels
- 2. Market analysis at the industry level - e.g. scan, locate and analyze foreign external environments for opportunities

	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated Case Study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
3. Understand and manage the complexity of foreign distribution channels							0
4. Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations 5. Tap into networks such as trade associations and chambers of commerce in foreign countries 6. Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries – e.g. knowing how to enforce contracts and resolve disputes, evel of protection of intellectual property							
7. Others, please specify							
3.3 Please rank the important. Please f Read econd and country lev	fill in addition	onal capabil	ities (if need		·		
-		industry lev	رما ــ و م درعا	n, locate and a	analyze for	eign eyterr	nal
environments			ci E.g. scal	i, iocate and a	inaryze iui	CIBIT EXCELL	iai
			alexity of for	eign distributi	on channe	als	
						:15	
				oreign operation		rce in forci	an countric
rap into ne				nd chambers Intries – e.g. k			_
المحمل مصطاحة	~~!!!~+~ <i>~</i>						

SECTON 4 MARKETING CAPABILITIES

4.1 In your company's international activities, to what extent do you require capabilities in the following areas? Indicate with the following scale ranking from (1) DO NOT REQUIRE to (5) GREATLY REQUIRED.

1	. DO NOT	2 2 4	5. GREATLY
	REQUIRE	2 3 4	REQUIRED

- 1. Promote brand awareness through traditional media e.g. TV, print or public relations
- 2. Promote brand awareness through internet channels e.g. search engine optimization, social networks, and online ads
- 3. Expand distribution networks in foreign operations
- 4. Gather foreign market intelligence
- 5. Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services to stay competitive
- 6. Develop new products and services for the foreign markets
- 7. Buy and sell products and services over the internet
- 8. Others, please specify
- 4.2 Please indicate up to THREE ideal ways to acquire each of the following MARKETING CAPABILITIES.

- Promote brand awareness through traditional media

 e.g. TV, print or public relations
- 2. Promote brand awareness through internet channels e.g. search engine optimization, social networks, and online ads
- 3. Expand distribution networks in

	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated Case Study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
foreign operations							
4. Gather foreign market intelligence							
5. Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services to stay competitive							
6. Develop new products and services for the foreign markets							
7. Buy and sell products and services over the internet							
8. Others, please specify							
4.3 Please rank the Please fill in addited	tional capa	bilities (if nee	eded).	IES required w			
Promote bran	nd awarene	ss through ir	nternet chan	nels – e.g. sea	rch engine	optimizatio	on, social
networks, and on	line ads						
Expand distrib	oution netv	vorks in forei	gn operation	าร			
Gather foreig	n market ir	ntelligence					
Determine the	e appropria	ate pricing of	the product	s and services	to stay co	mpetitive	
Develop new	products a	nd services fo	or the foreig	n markets			
Buy and sell p	roducts an	d services ov	er the interr	net			
Others, please	specify						

SECTON 5 CROSS CULTURAL MANAGEMENT CAPABILITIES

5.1 In your company's international activities, to what extent do you require capabilities in the following areas? Indicate with the following scale ranking from (1) DO NOT REQUIRE to (5) GREATLY REQUIRED.

 1. DO NOT		5. GREATLY
REQUIRE	2 3 4	REQUIRED

- 1. Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners
- 2. Foreign business practices
- 3. Verbal/nonverbal language differences
- 4. Motivate and retain employees in foreign operations
- 5. Management style required in specific foreign context
- 6. Negotiate across cultures
- 7. Manage partner relations
- 8. Others, please specify
- 5.2 Please indicate up to THREE ideal ways to acquire each of the following CROSS CULTURAL MANAGEMENT CAPABILITIES.

Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated Case Study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/or recruit personnel with required skills
------------------------------------	------------------------------	-----------------------------	---	----------------------------	---	---

- 1. Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners
- 2. Foreign business practices
- Verbal/nonverbal language differences
- 4. Motivate and retain employees in foreign operations
- 5. Management style required in specific foreign context

Outsource Self and/or Lecture Facilitated Tutoring On-the-Study recruit Networking or Case and/or peer personnel job (e.g. or expert Study mentoring discussion training online with seminar required training) skills 6. Negotiate across cultures 7. Manage partner relations 8. Others, please specify 5.3 Please rank the following CROSS CULTURAL MANAGEMENT CAPABILITIES required with 1 being the most important. Please fill in additional capabilities (if needed). __ Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners Foreign business practices __ Verbal/nonverbal language differences __ Motivate and retain employees in foreign operations __ Management style required in specific foreign context __ Negotiate across cultures __ Manage partner relations __ Others, please specify

SECTION 6 COMPANY CHARACTERISTICS

The following questions examine the external local environment that your company is faced with and the manner in which your company has organized itself. Please indicate your agreement with the statements stated at either end of the anchor by checking the option that most closely reflect your company's current position.

6.1 How would you characterize the external environment within which your company operates?

1(Very safe, little threat to the survival and well being of my company)

7(Very risky, a false step can mean my company's undoing)

1(Rich in investment and marketing opportunities)

7(Very stressful, exacting, hostile, very hard to keep afloat)

1(An environment that my firm can control and shape to its own advantage, such as a dominant company has in an industry with little competition and few hindrances)

7(A dominating environment in which my company's initiatives count for very little against the tremendous competitive, political or technological forces

6.2 In general, the top managers of my company favor...

1 (A strong emphasis on the marketing of tried and proven products and services)

7 (A strong emphasis on R&D, technological leadership and innovations)

6.3 How many new lines of products or services has your company marketed in the past 5 years?

1 (No new lines of products or services)

7(Many new lines of products or services)

1 (Changes in product or service line have been mostly of a minor nature)

7 (Changes in product or service lines have usually been quite dramatic)

6.4 In dealing with its competitors, my company...

1 (Is very seldom the first business to introduce new products/services, administrative techniques, operating technologies, etc) 7 (Is very often the first business to introduce new products/services, administrative techniques, operating technologies, etc)

1 (Typically seeks to avoid competitive clashes, preferring a passive posture)

7 (Typically adopts a very competitive, proactive posture)

6.5 In general, the top managers of my company have...

1 (A strong tendency for lowrisk projects; with normal and certain rates of return) 7 (A strong tendency for highrisk projects; with chances of very high returns)

6.6 In general, the top managers of my company believe that...

1 (Due to the nature of the environment, it is best to explore it gradually via cautious, incremental behavior)

7 (Due to the nature of the environment, bold, wide ranging acts are necessary to achieve the company's objectives)

6.7 When confronted with decision-making situations involving uncertainty, my company...

1 (Typically adopts a cautious, 'wait-and-see' posture in order to minimize the probability of making costly decisions)

7 (Typically adopts a bold, aggressive posture in order to maximize the probability of exploiting potential opportunities)

6.8 Please indicate the extent to which you are satisfied with your company's access to financial capital.

1 (Insufficient and a great barrier for our development)

7 (Fully satisfactory for the company's development)

6.9 The following questions try to understand your company's culture and to help us understand the impact of organizational culture on internationalization. Please indicate your agreement with the following statements by using the following scale ranging from (1) Strongly disagree to (5) Strongly agree.

1. Strongly disagree 2 3 4 5. Strongly agree

- 1. Managers basically agree that our company's ability to learn is the key to our competitive advantage.
- 2. The basic values of this company include learning as key to improvement.
- 3. The sense around here is that employee learning is an investment, not an expense.
- 4. Learning in my company is seen as a key commodity necessary to guarantee organizational survival.
- 5. Our culture is one that does not make employee learning a priority.
- 6. The collective wisdom in this company is that once we quit learning, we endanger our future.
- 7. We are not afraid to reflect critically on the shared assumptions we have about the way we do business.
- 8. Managers in this company do not want their 'view of the world' to be questioned.
- 9. Our company places a high value on open-mindedness.
- 10. Managers encourage employees to 'think outside of the box'.

1. Strongly disagree 2 3 4 5. Strongly agree

11. An emphasis on constant innovation is not part of our corporate culture.

12. Original ideas are highly valued in this company.

6.10 Please indicate your satisfaction with your company's overall achievement with the following metric on a scale of 1-5 where 1=very dissatisfied and 5=very satisfied.

1. Very dissatisfied 2 3 4 5. Very satisfied

1. Return on investment
2. Return on equity
3. Net profit margin
4. Return on assets
5. Sales growth
6. Market share growth
7. Growth in the number of employees

6.11 To what extent would your company be interested in attending in-market executive training programs (e.g. programs conducted in the country of interest)?

1 (Not interested) 5 (Very interested)

- 6.12 What challenges does your company face in internationalizing, in view of the current financial crisis?
- 6.13 Please provide us with an EMAIL ADDRESS if you wish to receive a copy of the final report. Thank you.

APPENDIX 6

DETAILED ANALYSIS: SINGAPORE

Sample Size = 72

Appendices 6-A to 6-D detail the statistical analyses from the Singapore participants' responses. There are four main sections; Financial Capabilities, Business Environment Capabilities, Marketing Capabilities, and Cross Cultural Management Capabilities.

The first table of each section details two main types of information for both the Overall and Singapore sample: 1) Respondents' Requirement for each capability, scored such that the higher the score, the higher the requirement, and 2) Requirements' assessment of the Importance of each capability, scored such that the lower the score, the more important the capability is. The third column of the first table is a re-rank of the scores in column two.

The second table of each section details the frequency of the methods respondents consider as being most suited for delivering the capability. The higher numbers indicate the more preferred mode of delivery.

Appendix 6-A I) Financial Capabilities – Required and Importance

Financial Capabilities	Overall Capabilities Required (Average)	Overall Importance (Average)	Overall Importance Rank	Singapore Capabilities Required (Average)	Singapore Importance (Average)	Singapore Importance- Rank
1.Financial planning and review in foreign operations	3.48	2.28*	1	3.76	2.58*	1
2. Debt management and new financing	3.13	3.28	3	3.23	3.29	3
3. Cashflow management	3.44	2.83	2	3.60	2.62	2
4. Cost allocation and control	3.57	3.32	4	3.74	3.44	4
5. Risk management	3.56	4.00	5	3.65	4.03	5
6. Taxation in foreign countries	3.57	4.21	6	3.65	4.18	6

^{*} The importance of the capabilities are ranked such that the smaller the number, the more important it isi.e. 1 is ranked most important. Hence, the smaller numbers represent the more important capabilities

II) Financial Capabilities – Ideal Ways of Acquisition

Singapore (Counts)	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated Case Study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/ or recruit personnel with required skills
1.Financial planning and review in foreign operations	22	12	17	30	17	13	23
2. Debt management and new financing	23	11	15	32	15	14	17
3. Cashflow management	20	13	17	30	18	9	18
4. Cost allocation	20	10	19	27	20	14	18

Singapore (Counts)	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated Case Study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/ or recruit personnel with required skills
and control							
5. Risk management	25	11	15	25	22	15	16
6. Taxation in foreign countries	24	10	11	22	12	14	26

Appendix 6-B

I) Business Environment Capabilities – Required and Importance

1/ Business Environment			na mportar			
Business Environment Capabilities	Overall Capabilities Required (Average)	Overall Importance (Average)	Overall Importance - Rank	Singapore Capabilities Required (Average)	Singapore Importance (Average)	Singapore Importance - Rank
1. Read economic and political data to interpret and anticipate trends at the global, regional and country levels	3.47	3.59*	4	3.51	3.72*	4
2. Market analysis at the industry level	4.03	2.37	1	4.12	2.52	2
3. Understand and manage the complexity of foreign distribution channels	3.79	3.25	3	3.78	3.30	3
4. Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations	4.18	2.83	2	4.39	2.44	1
5. Tap into networks such as trade associations and chambers of commerce in foreign countries	3.72	3.89	5	3.76	3.96	5
6. Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries	3.92	4.31	6	4.09	4.09	6

^{*} The importance of the capabilities are ranked such that the smaller the number, the more important it isi.e. 1 is ranked most important. Hence, the smaller numbers represent the more important capabilities

II) Business Environment Capabilities – Ideal Ways of Acquisition

							Outsource and/
Singapore (Counts)	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated case study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	or recruit personnel with required skills
1. Read economic and political data to interpret and anticipate trends at the global, regional and country levels	25	13	10	32	13	27	10
2. Market analysis at the industry level	21	9	16	41	10	20	17
3. Understand and manage the complexity of foreign distribution channels	20	10	14	33	16	15	21

Singapore (Counts)	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated case study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/ or recruit personnel with required skills
4. Seek out and evaluate potential partners for foreign operations	9	4	10	43	16	13	22
5. Tap into networks such as trade associations and chambers of commerce in foreign countries	19	5	11	38	12	12	13
6. Legal and regulatory framework of foreign countries	23	10	10	24	16	19	29

Appendix 6-C

I) Marketing Capabilities – Required and Importance

Marketing Capabilities	Overall Capabilities Required (Average)	Overall Importance (Average)	Overall Importance - Rank	Singapore Capabilities Required (Average)	Singapore Importance (Average)	Singapore Importance - Rank
Promote brand awareness through traditional media	3.03	4.28*	6	3.00	4.42*	6
2. Promote brand awareness through internet channels	3.61	3.60	4	3.58	3.56	4
3. Expand distribution networks in foreign operations	4.08	2.76	1	4.04	2.70	2
4. Gather foreign market intelligence	3.96	2.97	2	4.05	2.62	1
5. Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services to stay competitive	4.13	3.25	3	4.07	3.25	3
6. Develop new products and services for the foreign markets	3.99	3.78	5	3.93	3.81	5
7. Buy and sell products and services over the internet	3.22	5.61	7	2.85	5.90	7

^{*} The importance of the capabilities are ranked such that the smaller the number, the more important it is-i.e. 1 is ranked most important. Hence, the smaller numbers represent the more important capabilities

II) Marketing Capabilities – Ideal Ways of Acquisition

Singapore (Counts)	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated case study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/ or recruit personnel with required skills
Promote brand awareness through traditional media	13	9	12	23	14	12	23
2. Promote brand awareness through internet channels	11	6	12	25	16	15	23
3. Expand distribution networks in foreign operations	12	4	11	37	12	8	21
4. Gather foreign market intelligence	17	9	11	30	17	16	21
5. Determine the appropriate pricing of the products and services to stay competitive	9	8	10	35	20	14	18
6. Develop new products and services for the foreign markets	9	7	11	33	19	15	17
7. Buy and sell	12	5	7	16	15	21	18

Singapore (Counts)	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated case study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/ or recruit personnel with required skills
products and services over the internet							

Appendix 6-D

I) Cross Cultural Management Capabilities – Required and Importance

Cross Cultural Management Capabilities	Overall Capabilities Required (Average)	Overall Importance (Average)	Overall Importance - Rank	Singapore Capabilities Required (Average)	Singapore Importance (Average)	Singapore Importance - Rank
Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners	3.89	2.81*	2	3.94	2.78*	2
2. Foreign business practices	4.12	2.69	1	4.23	2.55	1
3. Verbal / nonverbal language differences	3.79	4.28	6	3.73	4.55	7
4. Motivate and retain employees in foreign operations	3.70	4.37	7	3.65	4.39	6
5. Management style required in specific foreign context	3.64	4.14	5	3.55	4.35	5
6. Negotiate across cultures	4.00	4.00	4	4.09	3.82	4
7. Manage partner relations	4.16	3.85	3	4.15	3.36	3

^{*} The importance of the capabilities are ranked such that the smaller the number, the more important it is-i.e. 1 is ranked most important. Hence, the smaller numbers represent the more important capabilities

II) Cross Cultural Management Capabilities – Ideal Ways of Acquisition

Singapore (Counts)	Lecture or expert seminar	Facilitated case study	Tutoring or mentoring	Networking and/or peer discussion	On-the- job training	Self Study (e.g. online training)	Outsource and/ or recruit personnel with required skills
1. Habits and attitudes of foreign customers, employees and partners	19	4	14	32	20	15	14
2. Foreign business practices	17	8	10	33	17	10	18
3. Verbal / nonverbal language differences	14	5	14	27	22	15	14
4. Motivate and retain employees in foreign operations	17	3	15	30	21	10	16
5. Management style required in specific foreign context	16	7	15	30	18	12	12
6. Negotiate across cultures	16	9	12	34	17	10	14
7. Manage partner relations	15	9	11	33	18	9	13

Da 6

,

APPENDIX 7 REFERENCES

Academic Articles - Priority

- Andersen, O. (1993). On the Internationalization Process of Firms: A Critical Analysis. *Journal of International Business Studies*, (first quarter), 209-231.
- Brookfield, S.D. (1986). *Understanding and Facilitating Adult Learning: A Comprehensive Analysis of Principles and Effective Practice*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Calof, J. & Beamish, P.W. (1995). Adapting to Foreign Markets: Explaining Internationalization.

 International Business Review, 4(2), 115-131.
- Cavusgil, S.T. (1980). On the Internationalization Process of Firms. *European Research, 8* (November), 273-281.
- Chen, R., & Martin, M.J. (2001). Foreign Expansion of Small Firms: The Impact of Domestic Alternatives and Prior Foreign Business Involvement. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 16(6), 557-574.
- Chetty, S. & Blankenburg Holm, D. (2000). Internationalization of Small- to Medium-Sized Manufacturing firms: A Network Approach. *International Business review*, *9*, 77-93.
- Coviello, N.E. & McAuley, A. (1999). Internationalization and the Smaller Firm: A Review of Contemporary Empirical Research. *Management International Review*, *39*(3), 223-256.
- Davenport, J. (1993). Is There a Way Out of This Andragogy Mess? In M. Thorpe, R. Edwards, and A. Hanson (eds) *Culture and Process of Adult Learning.* London: Routledge.
- Houle, C.O. (1961). The Inquiring Mind. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Johanson, J. & Vahlne, J.E. (1977). The Internationalization Process of the firm: A Model of Knowledge Development and Increasing Foreign Market Commitments. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 8(1), 23-32.
- Johanson, J. & Vahlne, J.E. (1990). The Mechanism of Internationalization. *International Marketing Review*, 7(4), 11-24.
- Karagozogflu, N. & Lindell, M. (1998). Internationalization of Small and Medium Sized Technology Based Firms: An exploratory Study. *Journal of Small Business Management, 36*(1), 44-59.
- Kedia, B. & Bhagat, R. (1988). Cultural Constraints on Transfer of Technology Across Nations: Implications for Research in International and Comparative Management. Academy of Management Review, 13, 559-571.
- Khanna, T. & Palepu, K. (2000). The Future of Business Groups in Emerging Markets: Long-run Evidence from Chile. *Academy of Management Journal*, *43*(3), 268-285.
- Knowles, M.S. (1968). Andragogy, not Pedagogy. Adult Leadership, 16(10), 350-352.

- Knowles, M.S. (1980). *The Modern Practice of Adult Education: From Pedagogy to Andragogy.* (2nd ed) New Yrok: Cambridge Books.
- Lu, J.W. & Beamish, P. W. (2001). The Internationalization and Performance of SMEs. *Strategic Management Journal*, 22(6/7), 565-584.
- Merriam, S.B. and Caffarella, R.S. (1991). *Learning in Adulthood: a Comprehensive Guide.* San Francisco: Josey Bass.
- Melin, L. (1992). Internationalization as a Strategy Process. *Strategic Management Journal, 13,* 99-118.
- Oxley, J. (1999). Institutional Environment and the Mechanism of Governance: The Impact of Intellectual property Protection on the Structure of Inter-firm Alliances. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 38(3), 283-310.
- Reuber, A.R. & Fischer, E. (1997). The Influence of the Management Team's International Experience on the International Behavior of SMEs. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 897-925.
- Ruigrok, W. & Wagner, H. (2003). Internationalization and Performance: An Organizational Learning Perspective. *Management International Review, 43,* 63-83.
- Ruzzier, Mitja, R.D. Hisrich, & B. Antoncic. (2006). SME Internationalization Research: Past, Present, and Future. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 13(4), 476-497.
- Sarkar, M., & Cavusgil, S.T. (1996). Trends in International Business Thought and Literature: A Review of International Market Entry Mode Research: Integration and Synthesis. *The International Executive*, *38*(6), 825-847.
- Sherman, A.J. (1996). International Franchising: Strategies for Building Bridges Between Asia and North America. *Journal of International Business and Entrepreneurship, 4*(1), 1-28.
- Stray, S. Bridgewater, S. & Murray, G. (2001). The Internationalization Process of Small Technology Based Firms: Market Choice, Mode, and Degree. *Journal of Global Marketing*, *15*(1), 7.
- Tennant, M. (1996). Psychology and Adult Learning. London: Routledge.
- Tough, A. (1967). Learning Without a Teacher. Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Tough, A. (1971). *The Adult's Learning Projects: A Fresh Approach to Theory and Practice in Adult Learning*. Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Tsang, E. W. K. (2002). Learning from Overseas Venturing Experience: The Case of Chinese Family Businesses. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 17(1), 21-40.
- Vachani, S. (1998). A Preliminary Framework for Explaining the Success of the International Ventures of Small- and Medium-Sized Companies. *Journal of Enterprising Cultures, 6,* 4, 429-455.
- Vachani, S. (1999). Global Diversification's effect on Multinational Subsidiaries Autonomy. *International Business Review, 8*, 535-560.

Vermeulen, F. & Barkema, H. (2002). Pace, Rhythm, and Scope: Process Dependence in Building a Profitable Multinational Corporation. Strategic Management Journal, 23(7), 637-654.

- Welch, L.S. & Loustarinen, R (1993). Inwards and Outward Connections in Internationalization. Journal of International Marketing, 1(1), 46-58.
- Yip, G.S., Biscarri, J.G., & Hitt, M.A. (2000) The Role of the Internationalization Process in the Performance of Newly Internationalizing Firms. Journal of International Marketing, 8(3), 10-35.
- Zahra, S.A., Ireland, R.D., & Hitt, M.A. (2000). International Expansion by New Venture Firms: International diversity, Mode of Market entry, Technological Learning, and Performance. Academy of Management Journal, 43(5), 925-950.

Academic Articles - General

- Aaby, N.E. & slater. S.F. (1989). Management Influence on Export Performance: A Review of the Empirical Literature 1978-1988. *International Marketing Review, 6*(4), 7-22.
- Adams, G. & Hall, G. (1993). Influences on the Growth of SMEs: An International Comparison. Entrepreneurship and Regional Development, 5, 73-84.
- Agarwal, S. & Ramaswami, S. (1992). Choice of foreign Market entry Mode: Impact of Ownership, Location, and Internationalization Factors. Journal of International Business Studies, (first quarter), 1-27.
- Anand, J. & Kogut, B. (1997). Technological Capabilities of Countries, Firm Rivalry, and foreign Direct Investment. Journal of International Business studies, 28(3), 445-465.
- Andersen, O. (1997). Internationalization and Market entry Mode: A Review of Theories and Conceptual Frameworks. Management International Review, (Special Issue 2), 27-42.
- Andersson, U, Forsgren, M., & Pedersen, T. (2001). Subsidiary Performance in Multinational Corporations: The Importance of Technology Embeddedness. International Business Review, 10, 557-574.
- Autio, E., Sepienza, H.J. & Almedia, J.G. (2000). Effects of Age at Entry, Knowledge Intensity, and Imitability on International Growth. Academy of Management Journal, 43, 909-924.
- Buckley, P.J. (1989). Foreign Direct Investment by Small- and Medium-Sized enterprises: The Theoretical Background. Small Business Economics, 1, 89-100.
- Buckley, P.J. (1990). Problems and Developments in the Core Theory of International Business. Journal of International Business studies, 21(4), 657-665.
- Buckley, P.J. (1997). International technology Transfer by small and Medium Sized Enterprises. Small Business Economics, 9, 67-78.

- Buckley, P.J. & Casson, M. (1993). Theory of International Operations. In: P.J. Buckley & P. Ghauri (Eds), The Internationalization of the Firm: A Reader (pp. 45-50). London: Academic Press, Ltd.
- Carstairs, R.T. & Welch, L.S. (1982). Licensing and Internationalization of Smaller Companies: Some Australian Evidence. Management International Review, 22(3), 195-208.
- Differences Among Exporting Firms Based on Their Degree of Cavusgil, S.T. (1984). Internationalization. Journal of Business Research, 12(2), 195-208.
- Cavusgil, S.T. (1994). Born Globals: A Quiet Revolution Among Australian Exporters. Journal of *International Marketing Research, 2*(3), editorial.
- Child, J. & Markoczy, L. (1993). Host-country Managerial Behavior and Leaning in learning in Chinese and Hungarian Joint Ventures. Journal of Management Studies, 30(4): 611-631.
- Clark, T & Pugh, D.S. (2001). Foreign Country Priorities in the Internationalization Process: A Measure and an Exploratory Test on British Firms. International Business Review, 10(3), 285-303.
- Ding, D.Z. (1997). Control, Conflict, and Performance: A Study of US Chinese joint Ventures. Journal of International Marketing, 5(3), 31-45.
- Dunning, J.H. (1988). The eclectic Paradigm of International Production: A Restatement and Some Possible Extensions. Journal of International Business Studies, 19(1), 1-31.
- Erramilli, M.K., & Rao, P.P. (1993). Service Firms' International Entry-Mode Choice: A Modified Transaction Cost Analysis Approach. *Journal of Marketing*, 57(July), 19-38.
- Fujita, M. (1995). Small and Medium Sized Transnational Corporations. Small Business Economics, *7*(3), 183-204.
- Hitt, T., Makino, S. & Montgomery, D.B. (2000). Resource Commitment, Entry Timing, and Market Performance of Foreign Direct Investments in Emerging Economies: The Case of Japanese International Joint Ventures in China. Academy of Management Journal, 43(3), 468-484.
- Johanson, J., & Mattsson, L-G. (1988). Internationalization in Industrial Systems—A Network Approach. In: N. Hood & J.E. Vahlne (Eds), Strategies in Global Competition (pp. 287-314). London: Croom Helm.
- Johanson, J. & Vahlne, J. (1992). Management of Foreign Market Entry. Scandinavian International Business Review, 1(3), 9-27.
- Kennelly, J.J. & Lewis, E.F. (2002). Degree of Internationalization and Corporate environmental performance: Is There a Link? International Journal of Management, 36(1), 478.
- Kogut, B. & Singh, H. (1988). The Effects of National Culture on the Choice of entry Mode. Journal of International Business Studies, 19(3), 411-432.

- Kostova, T. (1999). Transnational Transfer of Strategic Organizational Practices: A Contextual Perspective. *Academy of Management Review, 24*(2), 308-324.
- Leonidou, L.C., & Katsikeas, C.S. (1996). The Export Development Process. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *27*(3), 517-551.
- Leonidou, L.C. (2004). An Analysis of the Barriers Hindering Small Business Export Development.

 Journal of Small Business Management, 42(3), 279-302.
- McDougall, P. et al (1994). Explaining the Formation of International New Ventures: The Limits of the Theories from International Business Research. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *9*, 99-118.
- Morck, R. & Yeung, B. (1991). Why Investors Value Multinationality. *Journal of Business, 64*(2), 165-187.
- Oviatt, B.M. & McDougall, P.P. (1994). Towards a Theory of International New ventures. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 25(1), 45-64.
- Oviatt, B.M. & McDougall, P.P. (1997). Challenges for Internationalization Process Theory. *Management International Review, 37*(2), 85-99.
- Prangkar, N. & Klein, S. (2004). The Impact of Control on Joint Venture Performance: A Contingency Approach. *Journal of International Marketing*, *12*(3), 86-107.
- Reid, S.D. (1984). Firm Internationalization, Transaction Costs, and Strategy Choice. *International Marketing Review*, 1(2), 22-56.
- Riah Belkaoui, A. (1998). The effects of the Degree of Internationalization on firm Performance.

 International Business Review, 7, 315-321.
- Rugman, A.M. (1986). New Theories of the Multinational Enterprise: An Assessment of Internationalization Theory. *Bulletin of Economic Research*, 2, 101-118.
- Sullivan, D. (1994). Measuring the Degree of Internationalization of a Firm. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 2Q, 325-342.
- Sullivan, D. & Bauerschmidt, A. (1990). Incremental Internationalization. *Management International Review, 30*(1), 19-30.
- Thomas, D.E. & Eden, L. (2004). What is the Shape of Multinationality Performance Relationship. *The Multinational Business Review, 12*(1), 89-110.
- Turnbull, P.W. (1987). A Challenge to the Stages Theory of Internationalization Process. In: P.J. Rosson & S.D. Reid (Eds), *Managing Export Entry and Expansion* (pp. 21-40). New York: Praeger.
- Vernon, R. (1979). The Product Cycle Hypothesis in a New International Environment. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 41,* 255-267.
- Welch, L.S. & Loustarinen, R (1988). Internationalization: Evolution of a Concept. *Journal of General Management*, *14*(2), 34-55.

- Westhead, P., Wright, M., & Ucbasaran, D. (2001). The Internationalization of New and Small Firms: A Resource-Based View. Journal of Business Venturing, 16(4), 333-358.
- Yiu, D. & Makino, S. (2002). The Choice Between Joint Venture and Wholly Owned Subsidiary: An Institutional Perspective. *Organization Science, Nov. – Dec.,* 667-683.
- Zahara, Shaker A., R.D. Ireland, & M.A. Hitt (2000). International Expansion by New Venture Firms: International Diversity, Mode of Market Entry, Technological Learning and Performance. Academy of Management Journal, (43)5, 925-950.

Technical and Research Reports

- APEC (2008). APEC Training Course on enhancing Entrepreneurship Skills for SMEs. APEC Small and Medium Sized Enterprises Working Group.
- Bandi, Kishore Kumar, & K. Bhatt (2008). The Process of Internationalization in Small and Medium Enterprises: Challenges Encountered in the Process of Internationalization from a Product Adaptation and Standardization Perspective. Master's Thesis, Halmstad University.
- Derigo, Leigh, L. Black, & K. Wilson (2009). Creating International Business: Resources for Higher Education Business Courses. Produced for the Asia Pacific Economic Secretariat. http://www.apec.org/apec/publications/all publications/small medium enterprises.Med ialibDownload.v1.html?url=/etc/medialib/apec media library/downloads/workinggroups/w gtp/pubs/2009.Par.0001.File.v1.1. Accessed May 1, 2009.
- European Commission (2003), Observatory of European SMEs 2003, No. 1: "Competence development in SMEs", EIM, Luxembourg.
- European Commission (2003), Observatory of European SMEs 2003, No. 4: "Internationalization of SMEs", EIM, Luxembourg.
- European Commission (2003), Observatory of European SMEs 2003, No. 7: "SMEs in Europe 2003", EIM, Luxembourg.
- European Commission (2007). Supporting the Internationalization of SMEs: Final Report of the Expert Group. Report presented to the European Commission Enterprise and Industry Directorate General.
 - http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/entrepreneurship/support measures/index.htm
- National Training Program to enhance the Fishta, Gjergj, & P. Shallvareve (2004). Internationalization of Small Companies and Their Access to EU Markets: Strategic Approach. SME Agency: Albania.
- Gallop Organization (2006). Survey of the Observatory of European SMEs: Flash EB Series #196. Report submitted to the Enterprise Directorate General.

- Hessels , Jolanda, & M. Kemna (2008). *Internationalization of European SMEs Toward Emerging Markets*. Scientific Analysis of Entrepreneurship and SMEs. Netherlands Ministry of Economic Affairs.
- Llord-Reason, Lester & T. Mughan (2006). *Removing Barriers to SME Access to International Markets*. OECD-APEC Keynote Paper presented in Athens, Greece. APEC.
- Observatory of European SMEs (2003), SMEs in focus Main results from the 2002 Observatory of European SMEs: executive summary. European Commission.
- OECD (1997), Globalisation and Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs), OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2005), OECD SME and Entrepreneurship Outlook 2005, OECD, Paris.
- Roy, Marcel (2008). *Internationalization of SMEs*. Talk given AECM Seminar on Internationalization of SMEs in Budapest, Hungary.